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Board of Directors
The following board members were members
as at 28 February 2018.

MARCEL NAUDE (30)

NOKUTHULA THOMAS (44)

CA(SA)
Chief Financial Officer (Executive Director)

BHEKOKUHLE SIBIYA (61)

Marcel has experience in industries ranging
from mining (gold and platinum), oil and gas
and manufacturing. Over this period, Mr Naudé
obtained significant experience in JSE Listings
Requirements, the Companies Act, Financial
Reporting and internal controls.

Independent Non-executive Director, Member
of the Audit Committee, Member of the
Remuneration Committee and Chairperson of
the Social and Ethics Committee

MBA
Independent Non-executive Chairperson of
the Board of Directors, Member of the Audit
Committee and Member of the Remuneration
and Nomination Committee
Bhekokuhle has served on numerous boards
of both listed and non-listed companies
and was the CEO of the Chamber of Mines.
Mr Sibiya obtained his MBA from Western
Michigan University.

NAMIR WAISBERG (39)
BBusSc, CFA
Chief Executive Officer (Executive Director)
Namir is a qualified Actuary and a CFA
Charterholder. He has over 14 years of
experience in finance, financial markets and
investments. Namir has served as a board
member of the FTSE/JSE Index Committee
since 2006. He is also a founding partner of
Sail Minerals Proprietary Limited.

LOUIS JORDAAN (48)
CA(SA)

Nokuthula has almost 20 years of experience
in media relations, investor relations and
corporate communications. Ms Thomas’
experience extends across listed and non-listed
companies as well as the education sector.
She studied towards a BA in communications
and has a post-graduate certificate in
Executive Leadership.

Independent non-executive director
Chairperson of the audit committee and
Chairperson of the remuneration and
nomination committee
Louis has more than 20 years of experience
of the highest international standard.
Mr Jordaan’s experience extends across
multiple industries and varied organisation
sizes, with a focus on financial services and
emerging markets.
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Chairperson’s statement
On behalf of your board of directors, I am
pleased to present the chairman’s report for
the year ended 28 February 2018.
Chrometco is a mining and exploration
group, which focuses on Chrome mining in
South Africa.

STRATEGIC
Since the publication of the 2017 annual
report, the company has implemented
Tranche 1 of the transaction announced on
25 August 2016 after shareholders approved
the transaction on 18 July 2017. As part
of Tranche 1, Chrometco obtained control
over the Black Chrome Mine by virtue of
the management agreement between the
Group and Umnotho weSizwe Resources
(Pty) Ltd (“UWR”) (the holder of the Black
Chrome mining right) and a 25% stake in
Sail Minerals. On 24 May 2018, subsequent
to the financial year end of Chrometco, the
Company announced the implementation of
Tranche 2 of the transaction announced on
25 August 2016, after the remaining conditions
precedent were fulfilled. Accordingly,
Chrometco obtained legal ownership over the
UWR and as a consequence the management
agreement lapsed.

ACTIVITIES
Since 18 July 2017, Chrometco’s focus has
shifted predominantly to the Black Chrome
Mine operation which has generated a fruitful
return to shareholders.
The entire gross profit generated for the
year amounting to R82.7 million is mainly
attributable to the Black Chrome Mine
operation for the period 1 August 2017 to
28 February 2018. Over this period, production
has consistently increased to a steady state of
more than 60 000 tonnes per month.
The entity shall continue to develop the Black
Chrome Mine in line with the mine plan.
Rooderand is still under care and maintenance.
We are actively exploring options to generate a
return to shareholders from this asset.
The Group shall continue to identify investment
and development opportunities as they shall
arise.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

CONCLUSION

The financial results has significantly improved
from the previous period. This is expected
since there was no revenue recognised in
the previous period. The revenue grew to
R336.7 million, and the net loss for the year
increased from R4.8 million to R111.3 million.
This is mainly as a result of impairments of
R153.3 million.

Chrometco has seen some encouraging gains
in the current period and plans to continue
to bed down the recent acquisitions in the
year to come. Management’s focus will be on
streamlining and normalising the business as it
currently stands.

CHANGES TO THE BOARD
After completion of Tranche 1 of the
transaction announced on 25 August 2016,
Mr JG Scott, Mr IWS Collair, Mr R Rossiter,
Mr E Bramley and Mr PG Cilliers resigned
as directors of the Company and all its
subsidiaries, which led to the appointment
of the following directors over and above the
appointment of myself:

•

•
•

•
•

Mr Bheki Sibiya, Independent
Non-executive Director and Chairperson of
the Board of Directors, as well as member
of the Audit Committee, Nomination and
Remuneration Committee and Social and
Ethics Committee.
Mr Louis Jordaan, Independent
Non-executive Director and Chairman of
the Audit Committee and Director of the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee.
Ms Nokuthula Thomas, Independent
Non-executive Director, Member of
the Audit Committee, member of
the Nominations and Remuneration
Committee and Chairperson of the Social
and Ethics Committee.
Mr Marcel Naude, Chief Financial Officer.
At the same time, Mr Namir Waisberg
changed from the Financial Director to the
Chief Executive Officer.

These appointments were made in
consideration of the Group’s forward looking
strategy, and in line with the Gender Diversity
Policy of the Group.

OUTLOOK
Over the next 12 months, the Group will
continue to focus primarily on the Black
Chrome Mine operation with the aim of
generating further positive cash flows for
the Group.

Chrometco Limited integrated report 2018

In the end however it is the support of the
shareholders that provides the board and
management with the necessary confidence to
pursue the company’s strategy. It is therefore
to be hoped that the efforts of the past year will
in due course adequately reward shareholders
for their support.
I thank the shareholders, Board members,
Executive management and employees for
their continued support.
Bheki Sibiya
Chairperson
29 June 2018

Chief Executive Officer’s review
INTRODUCTION
Chrometco is a mining and exploration
company which focuses on Chrome
production and exploration in South Africa,
with the Black Chrome Mine in the Limpopo
Province of South Africa as its flagship
operating asset.
The Black Chrome Mine operation was
acquired in the current period. This occurred
in line with the transaction disclosed to
shareholders on 30 May 2017.
All other prospecting rights are currently
non-operational, and the prospects have not
significantly changed from the previous period.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
OVERVIEW
The Group generated R336.7 million revenue
in the current year. There was no comparative
in previous year since no production was
achieved then. This revenue is the result of the
acquisition of the Black Chrome Mine.
The Group achieved a total comprehensive
loss after tax for the year amounting to
R111.3 million (2017: R25 million).
The loss for the period under review was
mainly attributable to the impairment expense
of R153.3 million.

CORPORATE ACTIVITY
OVERVIEW
During the period, the Tranche 1 transactions
included within the Circular dated 30 May
2017 were concluded. This concluded the
inclusion of Sail Minerals and Umnotho
weSizwe Resources (including the Black
Chrome Mine) into the Group.

The significant changes to the financial
performance above are the result of these
acquisitions in the current period. There were
no operating activities in the prior period before
these operations were acquired.

OUTLOOK
The largest Chrome reserves in the world
occur in Southern Africa and are mostly
associated with PGMs as part of the
Bushveld Igneous Complex. Chrome ore
from South Africa makes up over 50% of the
world-wide Chrome Ore market. The Group
hopes to leverage these reserves into a
successful future.

CHALLENGES
Both the industry and the Group have
experienced multiple challenges in the year,
ranging from political, structural, demand
and economic.
The industry is beset by policy uncertainty and
political paralysis at times. There is a hope
that the outlook of the political mandate is
positive with recent changes. The outcome of
the new Mining Charter is expected to be the
basis on which government and industry relate
going forward. The Group is hopeful that these
changes will be positive, and that the improved
political certainty will restimulate third party
investment in the industry.
The industry has historically had a difficult
relationship with labour. The legacy of this has
influenced all labour relationships and has
necessitated careful handling by the Group.
The Group believes that it has developed a
strong and robust relationship with its labour
that will serve it in good stead in its endeavours
going forward.

The market for chrome is a volatile industry,
with erratic ups and down. This has affected
the price received for the sale of product,
both positively and negatively. Whilst this
inherently has both a positive and a negative
impact, it does make forecasting of capital and
working capital challenging. Management has
responded to this challenge by implementing
strict cost control measures to ensure that
the Group always has sufficient cash flows
available to it.

FUTURE PLANS
The management team plans to focus the
majority of their energies on consolidating
the business acquisitions for the period, and
realising any Goodwill associated.
Additionally, management shall continue
to identify opportunities in the industry
that will return positive shareholder growth
in the future, as well as expansions of
existing operations.

CONCLUSION
The Executives and the Board thank all of
the staff of the Group for their tireless work
and contributions to the successes of the
current year.
The activities and movements for the year
could not have occurred without the backing
and support of all shareholders. We hope that
this support remains firm in the future, and we
can partner together for continued growth and
sustainable returns.
N Waisberg
Chief Executive Officer
29 June 2018
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Mineral reserves statement
There have been no material changes to the
Mineral Reserves and Resources Statement
subsequent to the statement disclosed in the
previous Annual Report relating to the year
ended 28 February 2017, published on the
Group’s website (www.chrometco.co.za).
The Group will communicate to stakeholders
if an updated statement is obtained if it differs
materially from the reserves and resources
currently disclosed.
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Section 2

Accountability,
compliance and
transparency
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Corporate governance
required to carry out self-evaluations at
As a Company listed on the JSE Alternative Exchange (AltX), the
least annually. The Board believes that the
minimum standards against which Chrometco is managed are those
evaluation of performance should currently be
prescribed by the JSE Listings Requirements, being Chapter 2 of
performed in-house. Board committees are
the King Report on Governance for South Africa 2016 (King IV). The
also required to be reviewed by the Board.
Board committees may take independent
responsibility for managing the Group’s affairs rests with the Board and
professional advice at the Group’s expense,
all Directors are required to maintain the highest standards of integrity
when necessary. Chairperson of the Board
to ensure that Chrometco’s business affairs are conducted responsibly
committees, or their representatives, are
and in the interests of both the Group and its stakeholders. The Board
required to attend annual general meetings to
answer shareholders’ questions.
and individual Directors accept their duty and responsibility to ensure
that the principles set out in King IV are observed over and above those
minimum requirements of the JSE, and are committed to the highest level BOARD COMPOSITION
of corporate governance and the implementation of effective structures,
The names and brief résumé of the Directors in
policies and practices that improve corporate governance and create
office appear on page 3 of this annual report.
sustainable value for our shareholders and other stakeholders.
Both the Board and the individual directors
support embedding best governance
principles and practices throughout the Group.
The Board of Directors continue to subscribe
to the values of good corporate governance
as set out in King IV, after implementation
during the year and are committed to the
ongoing application of corporate governance
best practices in the conduct of the Group’s
business. There is commitment, going
forward, to apply the relevant provisions of
King IV. While the Board is of the opinion
that the Group complies in all material
respects with the principles embodied in
King IV and the additional requirements for
corporate governance stipulated by the JSE.
Explanations for how we comply or not comply
is detailed in this annual report.
Disclosure in this annual report demonstrates
the Group’s commitment to apply the
principles of King IV, as well as the actual
compliance achieved.

BOARD ACCOUNTABILITY
AND AUTHORITY
The general powers of the directors of
Chrometco are conferred either by the
Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation
(MOI) or by the Companies Act of South Africa,
as amended, or in terms of the JSE Listings
Requirements. The Board has adopted a
charter through which it controls and monitors
the Group’s business.
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The charter outlines the following
major responsibilities:

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Determining the strategic direction of
the Group.
Retaining full and effective control of the
Group and monitoring the management’s
implementation of Board plans
and strategies.
Identification and monitoring of key risk
areas to ensure the integrity of managing
risk and internal control.
Appointing Directors in terms of the
Group’s policy and procedures.
Appointing a Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer.
Establishing a framework for delegation
of authority and responsibilities to the
executive directors.
Managing conflicts of interest.
Cultivating an ethical corporate culture.
Maintaining succession plans at
executive level.
Any other matters that have a material
impact on the Group’s affairs.

While retaining overall accountability and
subject to matters reserved for the Board,
the Board has delegated authority to run
the day-to-day affairs of the Group to the
Executive Directors.
Audit, Risk, Nomination, Social and Ethics and
Remuneration Committees assist the Board
in discharging its duties and responsibilities.
All committees act under their respective
terms of reference, through which certain
functions of the Board are assigned with
defined purposes, membership requirements,
duties and reporting procedures. They are
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There are integrated procedures for
appointments to the Board. All appointments
are formal and transparent, and a matter
for the Board as a whole, assisted by the
Remuneration and Nomination Committee.

At 28 February 2018, the Board had a unitary
structure that comprised five members
(2017: six members). The change in number
of directors occurred with the resignations
of Mr JG Scott, Mr PJ Cilliers, Mr E Bramley,
Mr R Rossiter and Mr IWS Collair, and the
appointment of Mr B Sibiya, Mr M Naude,
Mr L Jordaan and Mrs N Thomas.
The composition of the Board is as follows:
three independent non-executive directors
(including the Chairperson) and two
executive director.
The majority of directors (3) are non-executive
directors, all of whom are independent.
The independent non-executive directors
meet the test of independence as embodied in
King IV and in the JSE Listings Requirements.
All non-executive directors are individuals of
high calibre and make a significant contribution
to the Board’s deliberations.
The executive directors have overall
responsibility for implementing the Group’s
strategy; which is determined by the Board.
Directors are apprised, whenever relevant, of
any new legislation and changing commercial
risks that may affect the affairs of the Group.
Non-executive directors do not hold service
contracts with the Group. The executive
directors do not have fixed-term service
contracts with the Group. The Board meets at
least four times a year to discuss and review
issues of strategy, planning, operational
and financial performance, stakeholder

communications and other material matters
reserved for its decision.
Further operational meetings are held as
required. An agenda, the minutes of the
previous meeting and supporting papers are
distributed to all directors prior to each Board
meeting, giving them sufficient time to consider
matters for discussion.
Where directors are unable to attend Board
meetings for any reason, every effort is made
to obtain and communicate to the meeting
their comments on agenda items, as well as
general items. Explanations and motivations
for items of business requiring decisions are
given in the meeting, ensuring that all the
relevant facts and circumstances are brought
to the attention of directors. Directors have
unrestricted access to all Group property and
records and are kept fully informed of progress
on matters between formal meetings by way of
ad hoc meetings and regular communications.
Directors also have unrestricted access to the
Group Secretary for advice and information.

ATTENDANCE AT BOARD
MEETINGS
Non-Executive Directors are available to
management at all times when required and
attended several non-Board meetings during
the year. During the review period (1 March
2017 to 28 February 2018), the Board formally
met six times, with the Group’s designated
advisor and Secretary present.

Director

Meetings
held/attended

B Sibiya* (Chairperson)

2/2

N Waisberg (CEO)

6/6

M Naude (CFO)

2/2

L Jordaan*

2/2

N Thomas*

2/2

J Scott*^

4/4

E Bramley (MD-outgoing)^

4/4

P Cilliers (FD-outgoing)^

4/4

I Collair*^

4/4

R Rossiter*^

4/4

* Denotes Independent Non-executive
^ Denotes a resigned director

BOARD CHANGES
The following changes to the Board took place
during the year under review:

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Mr NL Waisberg – changed from Financial
Director to Chief Executive Officer.
Mr JG Scott – resigned on 11/08/2017,
Mr PJ Cilliers – resigned as Managing
Director on 11/08/2017
Mr E Bramley – resigned on 11/08/2017

by shareholders. The Board is satisfied that
the Board Committees set out below have
effectively discharged their responsibilities as
contained in their respective terms of reference
for the year under review. A description of each
Board Committee, and details of attendance
and membership of the Committees is set
out below.

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

Mr R Rossiter – resigned on 11/08/2017

Meetings
held/attended

Mr IWS Collair – resigned on 11/08/2017

Director

Mr B Sibiya – appointed as Chairperson
on 11/08/2017

L Jordaan (Chairperson)
Independent
Non-executive Director

2/2

B Sibiya
Independent
Non-executive Director

2/2

N Thomas
Independent
Non-executive Director

2/2

R Rossiter
(Chairperson-outgoing)
Independent
Non-executive Director

2/2

JG Scott
Independent
Non-executive Director

5/5

E Bramley
Non-executive Director

5/5

Mr M Naude – appointed as Chief Financial
Officer on 11/08/2017
Mr L Jordaan – appointed on 11/08/2017
Mrs N Thomas – appointed on 11/08/2017

CHAIRPERSON AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
The roles of the Chairperson and Chief
Executive Officer remain separate and distinct.
The Chairperson is responsible for running
the Board, while the Chief Executive Officer
is responsible for conducting the affairs of
the Group. Consequently, no one individual
at Board level has unfettered powers of
decision-making. During the review period and
at the date of this report, the Chairperson can
be considered an independent non-executive
director as embodied in the King Code and
JSE Listings Requirements.

BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit, Risk, Nomination, Social and Ethics
and Remuneration Committees have been
constituted to assist the Board in the
discharge of its duties and responsibilities.
All committees act within their respective terms
of reference, under which certain functions
of the Board are assigned with defined
purposes, membership requirements, duties
and reporting procedures. They are required to
carry out self-evaluations of their performance
at least annually. Board committees are
also required to be reviewed by the Board.
Board Committees may take independent
professional advice at the Group’s expense
when necessary.
Chairperson of the Board Committees, or
their representatives, are required to attend all
general meetings to answer questions raised

IWS Collair
Independent
Non-executive Director

5/5

The primary role of the Audit Committee is
to ensure the integrity of financial reporting
and the audit process. A full report of the
Committee is set out on page 24.
The Committee, which must have a minimum
of three members, consists exclusively of
non-executive directors and has a majority of
independent non-executive directors.
The Committee meets at least twice each
year with the quorum being two members.
The Board has determined that the
Chairperson has the skills, qualifications
and experience necessary to contribute
meaningfully to the Committee’s deliberations.
The Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial
Officer and the external auditors attend
meetings by invitation.
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Corporate governance statement continued

Each member has one vote and the
Chairperson has no casting vote. The terms
of the Audit Committee are reviewed annually.
The King Code recommends that the
Chairperson of the Board should not be a
member of the Audit Committee. Due to the
fact that the Board was of limited size during
the year under review and that there were not
more than four non-executives on the Board
during that period, Mr JG Scott was historically
required to become a member of the Audit
Committee. After the changes to the board,
the new Chairperson of the Board, Mr Sibiya,
was required to be part of the Audit Committee
to ensure that the Audit Committee has at least
three non-executive directors, all of which are
independent. Although not fully compliant with
King IV, the board is committed to appointing
a suitable independent non-executive
director during the next year, who will be a
member of the Audit Committee. Additionally,
Section 94 of the Companies Act of South
Africa and the King Code recommends that
the Audit Committee consists of at least three
members. The Audit Committee obtains, at its
discretion, the services of advisors, experts
and specialists in order for it to appropriately
consider all matters presented to it and to
assist the Committee in executing its duties.

Members complete a self-evaluation analysis
of the Committee’s performance during
the year. The Board will determine at its
next meeting whether the Audit Committee
has satisfied its responsibilities for the
review period in compliance with its terms
of reference.
The Board is of the opinion that the external
auditors observe the highest level of business
and professional ethics and that their
independence is not in any way impaired.
The Audit Committee has satisfied itself as
to the expertise and experience of the Chief
Financial Officer during the current financial
year. The Chairperson of the Committee or his
representative attends the AGM annually to
address any questions that may be raised by
shareholders and other stakeholders.

NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE
Director

The Audit Committee’s duties mainly include:

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

assessing the Group’s relationship with the
external auditors;

L Jordaan (Chairperson)
Independent
Non-executive Director

1/1

B Sibiya
Independent
Non-executive Director

1/1

N Thomas
Independent
Non-executive Director

approval of all non-audit services to be
provided by the external auditors;

Meetings
held/attended

1/1

presentation of financial statements
and reports complying with all relevant
corporate disclosure requirements and
accounting standards;

1/1

reviewing any other announcement
on the Group’s results or other
financial information;

E Bramley
Non-executive Director

1/1

R Rossiter
Independent
Non-executive Director

1/1

IWS Collair
Independent
Non-executive Director

all corporate governance issues;
assessing the operation of adequate
processes of internal control; and
approval of fees payable to external
auditors for audit and non-audit services.

In addition, the Committee considers
any matters referred to it by the Board.
The Chairperson of the Committee reports to
the Board on its recommendations.
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1/1

The Remuneration and Nominations
Committee, must have a minimum of three
members, comprised of non-executive
directors, with one being independent.
The Remuneration and Nominations
Committee endeavours to meet at least twice
per year, subject to necessity/requirement.
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The areas of responsibility of the Committee
are an annual review of:

•
•
•
•
•
•

JG Scott
(Chairperson-outgoing)
Independent
Non-executive Director

the identification of exposure to
significant risks;

The Chief Financial Officer and Chief Executive
Director do not attend Remuneration and
Nominations Committee meetings. Neither
of them, nor any other senior executive, may
be present at meetings of the Committee
when remuneration issues applicable to
them are discussed or considered. A quorum
for a meeting is two members present in
person. Each member has one vote and the
Chairperson has no casting vote. The terms
of reference of the Remuneration and
Nominations Committee are reviewed annually.

the remuneration payable to Directors
and Board Committee members of
the Company;
the remuneration payable to Non-executive
Directors for services provided other than
as a Director;
the Company’s compliance with
employment equity requirements in line
with the Race Diversity Policy;
the Group’s commitment to gender
diversity on the board to be in line with the
Gender Diversity Policy;
the implementation of the Group
Remuneration Policy, which is tabled for a
non-binding advisory vote by shareholders
(refer to section on the Remuneration
Policy below); and
record the measures the Board commits
to take in the event that the non-binding
advisory vote is voted against by more
than 25% of the shareholders.

An additional responsibility of the Committee
is the identifying and nominating of fit and
proper candidates for approval by the Board
as additional directors or to fill any Board
vacancies as they arise. The Chairperson
of the Committee reports to the Board on
recommendations made by the Committee.
The Committee also advises the Board on
succession planning. The Chairperson of
the Committee attends the AGM annually to
address any questions that may be raised
by shareholders and other stakeholders.
In terms of King IV, the Chairperson of the
Board may not be the Chairperson of the
Remuneration Committee. During the year
under review, the outgoing Chairperson of the
Board also held the position of Chairperson
of the Remuneration Committee for
operational reasons.

The members of the Committee will complete
a self-evaluation analysis of the Committee’s
performance during the year. The Board will
determine at a future meeting whether the
Remuneration Committee has satisfied its
responsibilities for the year under review in
compliance with its terms of reference.

SOCIAL AND
ETHICS COMMITTEE
Director

Meetings
held/attended

N Thomas (Chairperson)
Independent
Non-executive Director

1/1

B Sibiya
Independent
Non-executive Director

1/1

L Jordaan
Independent
Non-executive Director

1/1

The Social and Ethics Committee reviews and
manages the Company’s commitment to:

•

•
•
•
•
•

social and economic development,
including the principles of the UN Global
Compact, Broad-Based Black Economic
Empowerment, Employment Equity
and the OECD’s recommendations
on corruption;
good corporate citizenship, including
the promotion of equality, prevention of
unfair discrimination, corporate social
responsibility, ethical behaviour and
managing environmental impacts;
consumer relations;

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
Composition of executive
directors’ remuneration
Basic salary
Where the Remuneration Committee
determines that the composition of directors’
remuneration requires re-assessment,
executive directors’ salaries are reviewed
annually by the Remuneration Committee
and benchmarked against external market
data considering the size and complexity
of the Group and its operations. Individual
performance and overall responsibility are
also considered. The Chairperson reviews the
performance of the executive Chief Executive
Officer annually.

NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
Where the Remuneration Committee feels that
it is necessary, the remuneration and fees of
non-executive directors are reviewed annually
to ensure that they remain competitive and
that they attract individuals of appropriate
reputation and experience to the Board.
Shareholders are required to approve the
remuneration of non-executive directors in
advance at a general meeting of the Company.

Board committee fees
The remuneration of Board Committee
members is determined by the Board, as
provided in the Memorandum of Incorporation.
For the 2017/2018 financial year, the following
rates of fees were applicable for the incoming
board members:

labour and employment, including skills
development; and

Chairperson of the Board

transformation by, at the very least,
ensuring compliance with the Employment
Equity Act, the Mining Charter and the
B-BBEE Codes of Good Practice.

Chairperson of the Audit Committee

The Social and Ethics Committee meets
once per annum in accordance with its
terms of reference.

R500 000 for the year
R1 000/hour

Chairperson of the Social and Ethics
Committee
R300 000 for the year

Fees for services rendered other
than as a director
In terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation,
non-executive directors who perform
services outside the scope of the ordinary

duties of a director may be paid additional
remuneration. No payments have been made
to non-executive directors other than board
attendance fees.
The rates above have been proposed
to shareholders for approval for the
2018/2019 financial year.

THE GROUP
COMPANY SECRETARY
The appointment and removal of the Group
Company Secretary is a matter for the Board
as a whole. The Company Secretary is a
central source of information and advice to the
Board and within the Company on matters of
ethics and good governance.
The Group Secretary’s functions include
the following:

•
•
•
•

•
•

Providing the directors, collectively and
individually, with detailed guidance on their
duties, responsibilities and powers.
Providing information on all laws,
legislation, regulations and matters of
ethics and good corporate governance
relevant to or affecting the Group.
Making certain that all statutory
requirements are complied with.
Ensuring that the minutes of all
shareholders’ meetings, directors’
meetings, Board Committee meetings,
as well as meetings of management, are
properly recorded.
Administering closed periods for dealing in
the Group’s shares.
Managing the induction of new directors.

The Board of Directors has considered and
satisfied itself during the year under review
and at the date of this report regarding the
competence, qualifications and experience
of the Company Secretary. In reaching this
conclusion, the Board undertook an annual
assessment of the Company Secretary’s
performance for the past year, as well as her
qualifications and experience. The Company
Secretary maintains an arm’s-length
relationship with the Board of Directors. While
the Company Secretary is a juristic entity,
the Board of Directors has considered the
individual performing the Company Secretary
role in its annual assessment of the Company
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Secretary, as well as the directors and
shareholders of the juristic entity appointed to
the position of Group Company Secretary.

ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
The directors are required by the South
African Companies Act to maintain adequate
accounting records and are responsible for the
preparation of the annual financial statements
and related financial information of the
Company and Group at the end of the financial
year, in conformity with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and in terms of the
JSE Listings Requirements.
The external auditors, Moore Stephens Cape
Town, are responsible for independently
auditing and reporting on the annual financial
statements in conformity with International
Standards on Auditing and the Companies Act.
Their auditors’ report appears on page 19.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND
INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board has ultimate responsibility for the
total process of risk management and its
effectiveness within the Group. Management is
accountable to the Board and has established
internal controls to manage significant Group
risk. This assists the Board in discharging
its responsibility for ensuring that the range
of risks associated with its operations are
effectively managed in support of the creation
and preservation of shareholder value.
In view of the extent of the nature of the
Group’s business, the Board considers it
currently unnecessary to operate an internal
audit function.
Regular management reports, which provide
a balanced assessment of key risks, are an
important component of Board assurance.
The Board is satisfied that there is an
ongoing process for identifying, evaluating
and managing the significant risks faced by
the Group.

IT GOVERNANCE
Due to the size of the Group, and the nature
of its operations, reliance and dependence
on IT systems is insignificant. For this reason,
the Board has no formal policy regarding
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IT governance. The Board will revise this
assessment in the future in the event that
there is a change in the circumstances
described above.

These directors still held shares as at
28 February 2018, but they resigned as
directors during the period. As such, they
have not been included in the table showing
director holdings as at 28 February 2018.

DEALING IN SECURITIES
The Group has a policy in place to restrict the
dealing in its securities by directors, employees
or other designated persons. No employee
may deal, either directly or indirectly, in
the Group’s ordinary shares on the basis
of unpublished price-sensitive information
regarding its business or affairs. No director,
Company Secretary, officer or other employee
of the Group or designated person may trade
in the Group’s shares during a closed period
as determined by the Board in accordance
with the JSE Listings Requirements.
A list of persons who are restricted for
this purpose has been approved by the
Board and is revised from time to time.
A register of directors, Company Secretary
and officers is available for inspection
at the Company Secretary’s registered
office at Unit 25 Sunninghill Office Park,
Sunninghill, Johannesburg.

BOARD MEMBERS
HOLDING SECURITIES

As a relatively small business, the Group
has not yet established a corporate social
responsibility and sustainability policy, but
endeavours to be a responsible corporate
citizen in all its dealings with stakeholders.

GROUP ETHICS
The Group is committed to the highest
standards of professionalism and
organisational integrity, as well as ethical
and legal conduct in business dealings with
stakeholders. A code of business conduct
has been developed and implemented
by the Group, which outlines the ethical
and professional management that
Chrometco upholds.

COMMUNICATION

The following Board members held securities
as at 28 February 2018:
Director

Shares held
directly

Shares held
indirectly

B Sibiya

7 930 743

–

These directors held no shares for the year
ended 28 February 2017, since they were
not directors at this point. They were only
appointed in the current period.
The following Board members held securities
as at 28 February 2017:
Director

Shares held
directly

Shares held
indirectly

E Bramley
P Cilliers

2 675 200
550 000

32 877 532*
–

* These shares are held through Audax Resources
(Pty) Ltd.

Chrometco Limited integrated report 2018

CORPORATE SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY
AND SUSTAINABILITY

Chrometco subscribes to a policy of full,
accurate and consistent communication in
respect of both its financial and operating
affairs. The Group regularly communicates
with major shareholders, institutional
investors, analysts and the media. Chrometco
encourages its shareholders to attend the
Group’s general meetings, which provide
opportunities for shareholders to ask questions
of the Board, including the Chairperson of the
two main standing Committees of the Board,
or their representatives.
Shareholders are informed at annual general
meetings of the results of voting, in person and
by proxy, in respect of all ordinary and special
resolutions proposed at such meetings.
The Group’s website address
is www.chrometco.co.za.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (COMPLIANCE WITH KING CODE)
DESIGNATED ADVISOR
PSG Capital acts as Designated Advisor to the Group in compliance with the JSE Listings Requirements.
Principle

Role and function of the Board

Statement addressing the extent of application

Principle 1

The governing body should lead ethically and
effectively.

The Board complies with this principle with ethical leadership. They do this understanding their role in guiding the
policies and philosophy of the company. The Board Charter has been set up to ensure that this principle is met.
The Board assesses their effectiveness in discharging their responsibilities per the Charter on an annual basis.

Principle 2

The governing body should govern the ethics
of the organisation in a way that supports the
establishment of an ethical culture.

The Board complies with this principle in a manner that establishes an ethical culture. The Board Charter sets out
how the board should act in order to govern the ethics of the organisation. Further, a group-wide Code of Ethics
has been implemented to ensure that all employees within the organisation are aware of their responsibilities
regarding ethical behaviour. Furthermore, the organisation maintains an anonymous whistleblower hotline
maintained by KPMG Proprietary Limited to allow employees to report all ethical contraventions that are identified.

Principle 3

The governing body should ensure that the
organisation is and is seen to be a responsible
corporate citizen.

The Board complies with this principle through acting in a way that is and is seen to be consistent with a
responsible corporate citizen. The Board is assisted by the Social and Ethics Committee. The Social and
Ethics Committee assists in ensuring that the organisation takes the appropriate steps to be seen to be acting
responsibly.

Principle 4

The governing body should appreciate that
the organisation’s core purpose, its risks
and opportunities, strategy, business model,
performance and sustainable development
are all inseparable elements of the value
creation process.

The Board appreciates the organisation’s core purpose and approaches their management in a holistic manner
that encompasses all of these considerations. The Board oversees the long-term plans and strategies of the
organisation. In doing so, they ensure that the appropriate risk assessment work has occurred, and that there are
adequate contingencies in place in order to mitigate the potential foreseen risks in achieving the long-term plans.
The long-term plans are designed in order to ensure goal congruency between strategy, sustainable development
and performance for all stakeholders. The organisation is cognisant of the role of mining and large industries,
and endeavours to ensure that the organisation is able to maintain strong and sustainable opportunities to all
stakeholders involved in all tiers of the organisation’s business.
Additionally, management meets weekly on all levels of the organisation to discuss and mitigate all potential
risks identified. The performance of management to mitigate these risks is assessed as part of the performance
scheme implemented by the organisation.

Principle 5

The governing body should ensure that
reports issued by the organisation enable
stakeholders to make informed assessments
of the organisation’s performance and its
short-, medium- and long-term prospects.

The Board complies with this principle by issuing reports that are beneficial to stakeholders decision-making
processes. This is achieved by the Board and its subcommittees reviewing and approving the Annual Financial
Statements. Additionally to that, the CFO, assisted by the finance team, reviews all financial information prior to
being made public on SENS. All other information is reviewed by the Board and the finance team prior to being
made public on SENS.

Principle 6

The governing body should serve as the focal
point and custodian of corporate governance
in the organisation.

The Board is a focal point and a custodian of corporate governance in the entity. The Board Charter and the terms
of reference for all subcommittees set out these requirements. The annual assessment of their effectiveness
ensure that the Board serves as the custodian of the corporate governance of the entity.
The Board has access to all of the company’s information, and is able to consult with any of the organisation’s
professional service providers as and when circumstances require it.

Principle 7

The governing body should comprise the
appropriate balance of knowledge, skills,
experience, diversity and independence
for it to discharge its governance role and
responsibilities objectively and effectively.

The Board and its subcommittees are appropriately balanced to conform to this principle. This ensures that there
is a mix of skills and perspectives in order to ensure that there are sufficient views in order to assess anything that
might occur.
The Chairperson of the Board is an independent non-executive officer. All of the subcommittees are made up
exclusively by non-executive members, with management attending by invitation.
The Board has an appropriate mix of skills. The CEO and CFO have been assessed to have the appropriate skills
and experience to perform their responsibilities on a daily basis. The rest of the non-executive members have a
wide range of skills from a wide range of industries, with a focus on skills pertaining to the mining industry. Brief
CVs for all directors have been included in the Annual Report.
Although the organisation notes that the Chairperson of the Board should not sit on the Audit Committee, this has
not been complied with. The Board does not believe that this is a significant threat to the balance of power of the
Board and its subcommittees. This is because of the size and maturity of the entity. The Board is aware that this
is not best practice and is currently investigating the need to appoint an additional non-executive director to fulfil
this role on the Audit Committee.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (COMPLIANCE WITH KING CODE) continued
Principle

Role and function of the Board

Statement addressing the extent of application

Principle 8

The governing body should ensure that its
arrangements for delegation within its own
structures promote independent judgement,
and assist with balance of power and the
effective discharge of its duties.

The Board and its subcommittees are appropriately structured to conform to this principle. The subcommittees
have had certain responsibilities of the Board delegated to them. The responsibilities of the subcommittees
are included in the Terms of Reference of these committees. The membership of the board and each of the
subcommittees are diverse enough to ensure that an appropriate balance of power exists. Each member of the
Board is entitled to an equal voting right, which ensures that there is an effective discharge of responsibilities.

Principle 9

The governing body should ensure that the
evaluation of its own performance and that
of its committees, its chair and its individual
members, support continued improvement in
its performance and effectiveness.

The Board evaluates the performance of itself and its subcommittees on an annual basis to ensure compliance
with this principle.

Principle 10

The governing body should ensure that
the appointment of, and delegation to,
management contribute to role clarity
and the effective exercise of authority
and responsibilities.

The Board has allocated overall decision-making ability to the CEO. The CEO is in turn ultimately responsible to
ensure that the strategy and performance that the organisation achieves is ultimately in line with the forecasts
and plans. The CEO then delegates specific aspects of the strategy to members of management. Each member
of management is assessed on their performance on an annual basis as part of the remuneration policy of
the group.
The CEO is a member of the Board, and is not a member of any independent subcommittees of the Board.

Principle 11

The governing body should govern risk in a
way that supports the organisation in setting
and achieving strategic objectives.

The Board complies with this principle. Risk is managed in such a way that the strategic objectives are met.
Management meets weekly to discuss potential upcoming risks, and ways to mitigate these risks. These meetings
are held with a view to ensure that the strategic direction of the company is achieved, and that no unforeseen
risks prevent the future vision from occurring.

Principle 12

The governing body should govern technology
and information in a way that supports
the organisation setting and achieving its
strategic objectives.

The Board complies with this principle through its outlook and approach to the governance of IT. Whilst no formal
positions within the organisation exist to mitigate IT risk, external service providers have been engaged in order to
manage the IT needs of the organisation. The Board believes that this is sufficient in order to mitigate these risks.

Principle 13

The governing body should govern
compliance with applicable laws and adopted,
non-binding rules, codes and standards in
a way that supports the organisation being
ethical and a good corporate citizen.

The Board complies with this principle through ensuring compliance with all relevant laws and regulations.
Included in the Audit Committee’s mandate is to ensure compliance with the relevant financial reporting
requirements. Further, the Board has access to the legal experts employed by the group on potential legally
contentious matters.

Principle 14

The governing body should ensure that the
organisation remunerates fairly, responsibly
and transparently so as to promote the
achievement of strategic objectives and
positive outcomes in the short, medium
and long-term.

The Board complies with this principle through the management of the remuneration policy. The policy is reviewed
on an annual basis and sets out the basis of the remuneration basis for remunerating staff in order to ensure
achievement of the organisation’s strategy.

Principle 15

The governing body should ensure that
assurance services and functions enable an
effective control environment, and that these
support the integrity of information for internal
decision-making and of the organisation’s
external reports.

The Board is assisted by the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is responsible for ensuring that the
external audit is completed by an independent, capable auditing firm. They review both the competence and the
independence of the external auditors on an annual basis.

Principle 16

In the execution of its governance role and
responsibilities, the governing body should
adopt a stakeholder-inclusive approach
that balances the needs, interests and
expectations of material stakeholders in the
best interests of the organisation over time.

The Board complies with this principle through ensuring stakeholder inclusive relationships. The Board has
delegated responsibility to management to deal with the relevant stakeholders. The organisation engages with
stakeholders though established structures to ensure that the organisation operates with the best interests of all
stakeholders in mind. This is in line with the Board’s commitment to the principles of good governance.

Principle 17

The governing body of an institutional investor
organisation should ensure that responsible
investment is practised by the organisation to
promote good governance and the creation of
value by the companies in which it invests.

The Company is not an institutional investor. Thus, this principle is not applicable, and is not adhered to.
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The Board does not believe that an internal audit function is necessary at the current time, with consideration of
the current size and complexity of the organisation’s operations.

Remuneration policy
During the period, The Group
updated their Remuneration Policy.
This was tabled and approved by the
Remuneration Committee.

The Group believes in the
following Group Remuneration
Philosophy:
In order to ensure the integrity and
legitimacy of the remuneration system,
the development and implementation of
related policies, programmes, practices
and decisions is directed by the main
remuneration principles contained in
the remuneration policy. The philosophy
consists mainly of principles, values
and points of departure relating to
remuneration. The values guide the
remuneration strategy and are more
lasting in nature, while the objectives of
the remuneration strategy will change as
the Group’s business plan is amended.
The aim of the remuneration philosophy
is to:

•

communicate the remuneration
commitments and expectations to
the staff;

•

strengthen the organisational culture
and underlying values of the Group;

•

guide and facilitate the remuneration
implementation plan;

•

describe the manner in which the
Group manages remuneration at the
organisational level so that it is fair
and consistent; and

•

serve as standard for the evaluation
of the successful implementation
of the remuneration policy and
remuneration strategy.

The Group believes that there are eight
key principles underlining an effective
and holistic Remuneration Policy.

1. Transparent communication
All information that is needed to take
well-considered decisions regarding
remuneration is communicated,
while the confidentiality of personal
remuneration information is
respected. This improves the quality
of decisions, promotes openness
and honesty and ensures that
ownership and accountability
are accepted.

2. Non-discriminatory practices

The limits can be adjusted taking the
following into consideration:

All remuneration policy directives
and practices are free of unfair
distinction, since unfair discrimination
based on race, gender, pregnancy,
marital status, family responsibility,
ethnic or social origin, sexual
orientation, age, disability, religion,
HIV status, conscience, convictions,
political orientation, culture, language
and birth is unacceptable.
Fair distinction, based on
performance, scarcity factors and
skills, is applied.

3. Internal equity
The Group remunerates staff
fairly and consistently according
to their role and individual value.
The consistent application of the
remuneration system throughout the
Group is a priority.

4. External parity

The Group’s business plan and
strategy, subject to budgetary
constraints, determine the
affordability limits with regard to
remuneration and other human
resource costs. The limits serve as a
guide for what can be spent.

•
•
•

Available budget funds;

•

The need for structural
adjustments with regard to the
remuneration of individuals and
occupation groups.

Inflation rate;
Desirability of performance
bonuses; and

The Group encourages its
employees to improve their skills
and knowledge in areas that
contribute to the achievement of the
Group’s strategy.

8. “Cost of Employment”
package approach
The remuneration of individuals is
based on the cost of employment.
This approach offers certain flexible
structuring choices to individuals,
which is the fairest way of managing
remuneration and costs within
tax legislation.

5. Performance driven
remuneration

6. Affordability

Necessity of
competitive remuneration;

7. Continued learning

Remuneration trends are taken
into consideration so as to position
the Group strategically to ensure
competitive remuneration within the
parameters of affordability, as far as
is achievable and sustainable.

The Group’s philosophy is to
emphasise the link between
remuneration and performance.
In order to implement the philosophy,
an appropriate performance
management system has been
developed and implemented to
differentiate between excellent,
average and below average
performers. A major objective of the
remuneration system is to reward
overall contribution rather than status
or position.

•

REMUNERATION POLICY
The Group underwrites a remuneration
policy that:

•

aims to manage remuneration
expenditure in an appropriate
manner and offers the desired
return in terms of the behaviour and
performance of staff;

•

uses the value of the remuneration
system as a central mechanism
with which to achieve
organisational objectives;

•

acknowledges the contribution
of individual employees to the
achievement of the Group’s
objectives;

•

offers managers the necessary
flexibility to manage remuneration
effectively; and
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•

positions the remuneration levels
appropriately and sustainably in the
labour market.

More specifically:

•
•

•

•

The remuneration system should offer
managers a powerful mechanism
with which to achieve operational and
strategic objectives;
The remuneration system should enable
the managers to differentiate the total
remuneration according to individual
performance. Good performers should
be remunerated according to value,
while excellent performers should
be remunerated significantly better
than underperformers;
The remuneration of excellent performance
in a specific year should not influence
remuneration in subsequent years. To this
end the remuneration policy incorporates
annual performance-linked bonus
incentives that do not form a permanent
component of the basic remuneration;
A major objective is to maintain the
remuneration of average and excellent
performers over time in real terms;

•

The Group aims to maintain a competitive
remuneration position in the market;

•

A single basic level of remuneration per
employment grade is not viable neither is
excessive variations in basic remuneration
levels per employment grade. As a result,
relatively narrow boundaries in terms
of basic levels of remuneration will be
implemented;

•

To guard against complacent and
underperforming employees no minimum
remuneration level per employee grade will
be set; and

•

The slope of the remuneration curve, with
the lowest and highest remuneration levels
as its extreme anchors, is a function of the
market as well as other economic, social,
ethical and moral considerations.
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Main drivers of the remuneration
system
The main drivers of the remuneration system
are as follows:

•
•
•
•

basic remuneration;
performance bonuses;
scarcity premiums; and
benefits.

Basic remuneration
In order to achieve a basic remuneration that
achieves the goals of the Remuneration Policy,
the following is performed:
Basic remuneration benchmarking: The group
will continue to compare basic remuneration
with the median in the market per employee
grade.
Salary adjustments: Performance-driven salary
adjustments are effected every year. Clear
guidelines and support for this process will
continue to be given to the managers by the
Human Resources Division before the start of
the performance cycle.

Performance awards
In order to implement performance awards
that achieve the goals of the Remuneration
Policy, the following is performed:
There will be support for the development of
a system of performance bonuses, subject to
affordability, based on excellent, world-class
performance. Performance awards are earned
every year from scratch.

Scarcity premiums
The payment of scarcity premiums for certain
skills is considered. A scarcity premium is
linked to a post or incumbent when there is
a demand for such a post or incumbent and
there is limited availability of the necessary
skills and competencies in the market.
The Group pays a scarcity premium as an
allowance to employees who fill these posts in
order to attract and retain them. The payment
of the premiums will be revised on an annual
basis as a result of varying supply and demand
factors in the market.
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Benefits
Suitable communication programmes are
instituted to make staff aware of the employee
benefits in order to create greater awareness
of employment benefits so that the staff will
view these as part of the total value proposition
of employment within the group.

Directors’ remuneration
Executive directors’ performance are subject
to the Group remuneration policy, with the
performance management process being
applied to quantify directors’ performance.
The performance evaluation of the Group’s
executive directors is performed by the
Group’s Nominations and Remuneration
Committee.
There are no bonus schemes in place currently
which detail the long-term, medium-term
and short-term performance targets for the
executive team.
All directors receive a basis monthly salary that
is set and is not variable.
The previous director incentive scheme came
to an end with the change in the Board.
The new Board decided that the previous
scheme did not meet the requirements of the
current strategy any longer.
The Group is currently investigating whether
new or additional bonus policies are required,
and how these should be designed in order
appropriately to incentivise the correct
behaviour in the short, medium and long term.
The Board believes that an incentivisation
scheme is a powerful tool that allows a
streamlining between senior management
and the strategic direction of the group, with
a focus on the short-, medium- and long-term
plans and goals of the Group.
The directors’ remuneration has been
disclosed in the Annual Financial Statements
(refer note 24 of the consolidated financial
statements for the Chrometco Group for
further information).

Section 3

Financial Information
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Directors’ responsibilities for the
Annual Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for the
preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements of
Chrometco, comprising the consolidated
statement of financial position at 28
February 2018, and consolidated income
statement and consolidated statements of
comprehensive income, changes in equity
and cash flows for the year then ended,
and the notes to the consolidated financial
statements, which include a summary of
significant accounting policies, and other
explanatory notes, in accordance with IFRS,
as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB), the South African
Institute of Chartered Accountants (SAICA)
Financial Reporting Guides issued by the
Accounting Practices Committee and
Financial Reporting Pronouncements issued
by the Financial Reporting Standards Council,
as well as the requirements of the South
African Companies Act and the JSE Listings
Requirements.
In addition, the directors are responsible for
preparing the directors’ report.

The directors consider that, in preparing
the consolidated financial statements, they
have used the most appropriate accounting
policies, consistently applied and supported
by reasonable and prudent judgements
and estimates, and that all IFRS standards
that they consider to be applicable have
been complied with for the financial year
ended 28 February 2018. The directors are
satisfied that the information contained in
the consolidated financial statements fairly
presents the results of operations for the
year and the financial position of the Group
at year-end. The directors are responsible
for the information included in the annual
financial report, and are responsible for both
its accuracy and its consistency with the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group operated in a well-established
control environment, which is well
documented and regularly reviewed. This
incorporates risk management and internal
control procedures, which are designed to
provide reasonable assurance that assets are
safeguarded and the material risks facing the
business are being controlled.

The directors have responsibility for ensuring
that accounting records are kept. The
accounting records should disclose with
reasonable accuracy the financial position of
the Group to enable the directors to ensure
that the consolidated financial statements
comply with the relevant legislation.

The annual financial statements for the year
ended 28 February 2018 set out on pages
25 to 57 were approved by the Board of
Directors on 29 June 2018 and are signed on
its behalf by:

Declaration by Company Secretary
In my capacity as Company Secretary, I hereby certify that, to the best of my knowledge and
belief, the Company has lodged with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission all
such returns as are required to be lodged by a public Company in terms of section 88 (2)(e)
of the Companies Act of South Africa, and that all such returns appear to be true, correct and
up to date.

29 June 2018

V Marques
The Green Board Company Secretaries
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The directors have made an assessment of
the ability of the Company and its subsidiaries
to continue as going concerns. Refer to
note 36.
The auditor is responsible for reporting
on whether the Group annual financial
statements are fairly presented in accordance
with the applicable financial reporting
framework.

N Waisberg
Chief Executive Officer

Independent Auditors’ report
To the shareholders of Chrometco Limited

REPORT ON THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial
statements of Chrometco Limited set
out on pages 25 to 57, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 28 February 2018, and
the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial
position of Chrometco Limited Group as

at 28 February 2018, and its consolidated
financial performance and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards,
the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as
issued by Accounting Practices Committee
and the requirements of the Companies Act
71 of 2008 of South Africa.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance
with International Standards on Auditing.
Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the
consolidated financial statements section
of our report. We are independent of the
Group and company in accordance with the
Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors
Code of Professional Conduct for Registered
Auditors (IRBA Code) and other independence
requirements applicable to performing audits
of consolidated financial statements in South
Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA

Code and in accordance with other ethical
requirements applicable to performing audits
in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent
with the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (Parts A and B).
We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in
our professional judgement, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context
of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming Our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.
We have identified the following key audit
matters pertaining to the consolidated
financial statements:

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Classification, valuation and disclosure of disposal group
classified as held-for-sale and discontinued operations –
refer to note 8

Our audit procedures included:

The Company continued with its strategic repositioning of
the Group in the mining sector. Accordingly, the Rooderand
operation was classified and presented as held-for-sale in
terms of IFRS 5.
The board is of the view that a single transaction is highly
probable and a sale is expected to be finalised within 12
months. As a result, on 31 August 2017, the Rooderand
operation was classified as held-for-sale and impairment losses
of R120.5 million were recognised.
Provision for rehabilitation – refer to accounting policy 1.13
and note 17
Given the nature of its operations, the Group incurs obligations
to close, restore and rehabilitate the land. Rehabilitation
activities are governed by a combination of legislative
requirements and Group policies. Significant estimates over life
of mine and reserves are made by the Group in determining its
rehabilitation provision.

•
•
•

Assessing and challenging director’s assumptions on the classification of
assets as held-for-sale through understanding the status of the various
sales processed and prospective purchasers.
Challenging directors’ assumptions as to the valuation of assets
classified as held-for-sale by assessing the evidence available to support
the estimated sales proceeds for the disposal group.
Assessing the presentation of the disposal group held-for-sale and
discontinued operation against the relevant criteria in IFRS 5.

Our procedures included amongst others:

•
•
•

We critically assessed management’s assumptions used in calculating
the provision for rehabilitation.
We assessed the assumptions used by management’s expert to derive
the amount of the provision.
We assessed the expert’s qualifications, experience and assumptions
used in the expert’s calculation

The calculation of the rehabilitation provision requires
significant judgements due to the inherent complexity in
estimating the quantum and timing of future costs.
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Independent Auditors’ report (continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Business combination and acquisitions

Our audit procedures involved among others, the following:

The Group acquired control of 51% Sail Minerals Proprietary
Limited on 1 August 2017 and Black Chrome Operation on 18
July 2017. In accordance with IFRS 3 – Business Combinations,
the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in
a business combination are determined at acquisition date. The
fair value of provisional amounts recognised at the acquisition
date are adjusted retrospectively if new information is obtained,
about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition
date and would have affected the amounts recognised.

•
•

Engaged, as part of our team, valuation specialists to assist us with
our assessment of the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed.
Reviewed the reasonableness of the business valuation methodology
and cash flows:

–– Evaluated the discounted cash flow model;
–– Assessed the reasonability of the inputs and assumptions (including
the discount rate, forward chrome prices, forecast exchange rates);
and

–– Performed sensitivity analysis and the impact on headroom
•
•

critically assessed bargain purchase recognised on the purchase of
Sail Minerals

Reviewed management’s valuation of property, plant and equipment;
Engaged, as part of our team, tax specialist to assist us in evaluating tax
principles applied to these transactions.

Evaluated management’s calculation and support of the purchase price.
Reviewed the take on balance sheet for the identification of identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
Valuation of goodwill and intangible assets
Under IFRSs, the Group is required to annually test goodwill
and intangible assets for impairment.
We have determined this is a key audit matter due to the
judgement required by the Board in preparing a ‘value in use’
model to satisfy the impairment test. Forecasting future cash
flows and applying an appropriate discount rate, inherently
involves a high degree of estimation and judgement by the
Board.

Our audit procedures focused on evaluating and challenging the key
assumptions used by the Board in conducting the impairment review.
The procedures included:

•
•

Reviewing the model for compliance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets

•

Evaluating the cash flow projections and process by which they were
developed, comparing the cash flows to the latest budgets, assessing
the historical accuracy of the budgeting process.

•

Verifying the mathematical accuracy and methodology appropriateness
of the underlying model calculations.

Performing sensitivity analysis of the key assumptions in the model

We have also assessed and validated the adequacy and appropriateness of
the disclosures made in the financial statements.

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises
the Company secretary’s confirmation, Report
of the audit committee, and the Directors’
report as required by the Companies Act 71 of
2008 of South Africa of South Africa, and the
Annual Financial Report and the Integrated
Annual Report. Other information does not
include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the consolidated financial
statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express an audit
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opinion or any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.
In connection with our audit of the
consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.
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Responsibilities of the directors
for the consolidated financial
statements
The directors are responsible for the
preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards and the requirements
of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 of South
Africa, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial
statements, the directors are responsible for
assessing the group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the
group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

•

•

Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated
financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance
but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

•

•

Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal
control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not

•

•

for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the group’s
internal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the
directors.
Conclude on the appropriateness of the
directors’ use of the going concern basis
of accounting and based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may
cause the group to cease to continue as a
going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation,
structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.
Obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the Consolidated consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with the
directors, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements
of the current year and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Report on other legal and
regulatory requirements
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in
Government Gazette Number 39475 dated
4 December 2015, we report that Moore
Stephens Cape Town Inc. has been the
auditor of Chrometco Limited for one year.

Moore Stephens Cape Town Inc.
Chartered Accountants (SA)
Registered Auditor
Per: Lindie Stander
Director
29 June 2018
Cape Town

We communicate with the directors regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during
our audit.
We also provide the directors with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical
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Directors’ report
The Board of Directors has
pleasure in presenting their
report for the year ended
28 February 2018.
NATURE OF BUSINESS
Chrometco Limited (“Chrometco” or “the
Group”) is primarily involved in the acquisition
and exploration of mineral resources,
production of Chrome ore and the sale of this
Chrome ore.
The Group acquired contractual control over
the Black Chrome Mine during the course of
the year. This is owned by Umnotho weSizwe
(Pty) Ltd (UWR). Prior to this, the operation
was in business rescue. This is a mine
producing and selling Chrome ore. Legal title
to this operation passed to the Group after
year-end on 24 May 2018.
The Group has the right of use of new order
mining rights for chrome on Portion 2 of
the farm Rooderand as well as the rights
for chrome, PGMs and base metals on the
Remainder Portion of Rooderand. Rooderand
is currently not operating and is under care
and maintenance.
The two new order mining rights are held
by Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd, a 74%
subsidiary of Chrometco. The other 26% of
Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd is under BEE
control.
Sail Minerals (Pty) Ltd was acquired during
the current period. This is owned 51% by the
Group and 49% by Grand Slam Enterprises
(Pty) Ltd. Sail Minerals is a trading company
which predominantly sells the production of
the Black Chrome Mine.
Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd a wholly-owned
subsidiary, holds 76% of the issued share
capital of Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty)
Ltd which are both dormant entities after
the transfer of the new order mining rights
to Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd during the
period ended 29 February 2016.

GENERAL REVIEW OF
OPERATIONS
During the year under review, management
focused its attention on the following issues:

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Developing the Black Chrome Mine to
increase the production and commercial
viability.
Management of the Group’s financial
assets and contractual relationships;
The acquisition of mineral rights, and
business opportunities in the Republic
and elsewhere in SADC (Southern African
Development Community).

FINANCIAL RESULTS

Acquisition and consolidation of PGM
prospecting rights on the Rooderand
property.

The Group achieved a total comprehensive
loss after tax for the year amounting to
111.3 million (2017: 24.9 million).

Corporate action to increase our BEE
shareholding in subsidiaries.

CORPORATE ACTIVITY

The following challengers were identified by
the management team, and specific focus
was made on how to mitigate this:

•
•

•
•
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Chrometco is a minerals miner and
exploration Group with prospects in the
Limpopo Province of the Republic of
South Africa. As the Group is currently
involved in the mining of one active operation
and all income and expenditure, assets and
liabilities are held and incurred in this single
activity, segmental information will not be
presented until such time as the business
has developed and segments of the business
can be properly identified and a meaningful
allocation can be made between such
segments. All management information is
presented in one segment due to the fact
that the Company and Group only has one
geographical and operating segment/activity.

Optimisation of the allocation of capital
resources.

CHALLENGES

Chrometco Mining Services (Pty) Ltd, a
wholly-owned subsidiary, is responsible for
undertaking various ad hoc operations at
Rooderand.
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Bringing UWR out of business rescue
by focusing on the core management
principles of the entity.

SEGMENT REPORT

Mining Charter: a new mining charter is
expected, which may have punitive terms
if it looks and feels like the previous draft
mining charter that was released.
Regulatory uncertainty: given the recent
changes at a governmental level, there is
significant uncertainty over the regulatory
framework, and sanctity of property
rights.
High volatility of market prices: both
commodity prices and exchange rates
have been highly volatile, which directly
affect the prices received for product.
Labour relations: labour relations within
the mining industry in general have
worsened in recent year, which has
affected the business and security
of labour supply, with strikes being
prominent.

On 18 July 2018, Tranche 1 of the transaction
announced on 25 August 2016 closed,
following shareholder approval. Chrometco
obtained control over the Black Chrome Mine
by virtue of the management agreement
between the Group and Umnotho weSizwe
Resources Proprietary Limited (“UWR”)
(the holder of the Black Chrome mining
right) and a 25% stake in Sail Minerals.
An additional 26% of Sail Minerals was
subsequently acquired. On 24 May 2018,
after the financial year-end of Chrometco,
the Company announced the implementation
of Tranche 2 of the transaction announced
on 25 August 2016, after the remaining
conditions precedent were fulfilled.
Accordingly, Chrometco obtained legal control
over the UWR and as a consequence the
management agreement lapsed.

DIVIDENDS
No dividends were declared during the period
under review (2017: Rnil).

Directors’ report (continued)
BORROWINGS

Business address

On 30 September 2016, Sail Minerals (Pty)
Ltd (“Sail”) granted a standby loan facility to
Chrometco to the amount of R10 000 000.
In terms of the agreement, Chrometco drew
R5 000 000 of the facility within one business
day from opening the facility.

Sparrebosch Building
The Greens Office Park
Charles De Gaulle Crescent
Highveld Park Ext 12
South Africa 2000

The carrying value of the facility was
R5 220 623 as at 28 February 2017.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO
YEAR-END
On 24 May 2018, Tranche 2 of the Black
Chrome Share Swap Agreement, as disclosed
in the circular to shareholders dated 30 May
2017, was implemented after the remaining
conditions precedent were met. The impact
there of was an issue of 1,37 billion ordinary
shares to Grand Slam Enterprise Proprietary
Limited, in exchange for 51% ownership of
Black Chrome Holdings Proprietary Limited,
the owner of 64% of Umnotho weSizwe
Resources Proprietary Limited.

BLACK ECONOMIC
EMPOWERMENT
The Group is committed to the principles
of black economic empowerment and
accordingly the BEE shareholding in the
mining operations meets the required
percentages as included in the relevant
mining legislation. The Group’s management
continues to identify ways of improving the
BEE standing of the Group.

DIRECTORS
Refer to note 24 for the directors of the
Group.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
Refer to note 24 for the disclosure of the
directors’ emoluments.

SECRETARY
The Secretary at the date of this report is
Ms Vanessa Marques of the Green Board
Company Secretaries CC.

Postal address
PO Box 758
Mondeor
South Africa 2110

REGISTERED ADDRESS OF
CHROMETCO
Unit 25
Sunninghill Office Park
Sunninghill
Johannesburg
PO Box 1553
Kelvin
2054

AUDITORS
The Auditors of the Group are Moore
Stephens Cape Town. The designated audit
partner is Mrs Lindie Stander, who is a JSE
accredited auditor.

GOING CONCERN
The financial statements have been prepared
on the going-concern basis, since the
directors have reason to believe that the
Group has adequate resources in place
and available to it from its shareholders to
continue in operation for the foreseeable
future. In reaching this conclusion, the
directors have considered the following:

•
•
•

The Group’s cash requirements over the
next 12 months.
The Group’s current financial position.
The probability of non-recurring events
and circumstances that may have an
impact on the Group’s future cash flows
and financial position over the next
12 months.

Refer to note 36 of the Annual Financial
Statements for further information on the
going-concern position of the Group.
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Report by the Audit Committee
for the year ended 28 February 2018
The Audit Committee reports that it has
discharged all of its responsibilities for the
current financial year in line with its mandate
and in line with s94 of the Companies Act
of 2008. The committee has considered the
JSE letter of 20 February 2018 on proactive
monitoring and has taken appropriate action
regarding this. These responsibilities include,
but are not limited to:

•

nominated the appointment of Moore
Stephens as the registered independent
auditors after satisfying itself through
enquiry that Moore Stephens is
independent as defined in the terms of the
Companies Act of South Africa;

•

determined the fees to be paid to Moore
Stephens and approved their terms of
engagement;

•

ensured that the appointment of Moore
Stephens complied with the Companies
Act and any other legislation relating to
the appointment of auditors;

•

approved a non-audit services policy
which determines the nature and extent
of any non-audit services which Moore
Stephens may provide to the Company;

•
•

approved the appointment of the
Financial Director and satisfied itself as to
his experience and expertise;
presentation of financial statements
and reports complying with all relevant
corporate disclosure requirements and
accounting standards;

•

reviewing any other announcement on
the Group’s results or other financial
information;

•

reviewing any other announcement on
the Group’s results or other financial
information;

•

the identification of exposure to significant
risks;

•
•

all corporate governance issues; and
assessing the operation of adequate
processes of internal control.

The Audit Committee is satisfied that an
adequate system of internal control is in
place to reduce significant risks faced by the
Group to an acceptable level, and that these
controls have been effective throughout the
period under review. The system is designed
to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk
of failure and to maximise opportunities to
achieve business objectives. This can provide
only reasonable, but not absolute assurance.
As required by the JSE Limited Listings
Requirement 3.84(h), the Audit Committee
has satisfied itself that Mr Marcel Naude was
appointed in August 2017 to fulfil the role
of the Chief Financial Officer and the Audit
Committee has satisfied itself that Mr Naude
has the appropriate experience and expertise.
During the period, the previous group
auditors, Mazars Inc. were removed as the
group auditors and replaced with Moore
Stephens Cape Town. This was done to
improve efficiencies in the group, since Moore
Stephens are the historic auditors of Sail

Minerals, one of the acquired entities in the
current period.
The Audit Committee has evaluated the Group
annual financial statements of Chrometco
Limited for the year ended 28 February 2018
and based on the information provided to the
Audit Committee, considers that it complies,
in all material respects, with the statutory
requirements of the various regulations
governing disclosure and reporting of the
consolidated annual financial statements
and that the consolidated annual financial
statements comply in all material respects
with IFRS, as issued by the IASB, the SAICA
Financial Reporting Guides issued by the
Accounting Practices Committee, as well as the
requirements of the South African Companies
Act and the JSE Listings Requirements. The
Audit Committee has reviewed the annual
financial statements, and believe that they fairly
present the financial position, the changes
in equity, results of operations and the cash
flows of the group. The Audit Committee has
evaluated the independence of the external
auditors and the Audit Committee is satisfied
that the external auditors have remained
independent. The Audit Committee therefore
recommends the adoption of the annual
financial statements by the Board.
The Board has subsequently approved the
financial statements which will be open for
discussion at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.
On behalf of the Audit Committee
L Jordaan
Audit Committee Chairperson
29 June 2018

Social and Ethics
Committee Report
for the year ended 28 February 2018
The Committee reports that it has adopted
appropriate formal terms of reference as
its Charter, and has regulated its affairs
in compliance with this Charter, and has
discharged all of the responsibilities set out
therein.
The Committee was established in December
2011 to assist the Board in ensuring that
Chrometco is and remains a good and
responsible corporate citizen, and to perform
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the statutory functions required of a Social
and Ethics Committee in terms of the
Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008, as amended
(“the Companies Act”).
The Committee monitors relevant legislation,
other legal requirements and prevailing codes
of best practice, specifically with regard
to matters relating to social and economic
development, good corporate citizenship, the
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environment, health and public safety, as well
as labour and employment.
The Committee is satisfied of the Group’s
performance in the categories noted above
and will continue to review, assess and report
on these areas in the future.
Nokuthula Thomas
Social and Ethics Committee Chairperson
29 June 2018

Consolidated statement of financial position
for the Chrometco Group
at 28 February 2018
Note

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

1 107 615

274 903

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

3

962 653

2 859

Intangible assets

4

15 857

268 886

Goodwill

5

40 465

–

Other financial assets

6

82 844

–

24.3

21 722

–

7

5 796

3 158

355 722

2 624

10

24 470

64

Non-current disposal group held-for-sale

8

132 279

–

Inventory

9

164 088

–

11

34 885

2 560

1 463 337

277 527

515 206

209 017

388 512

158 062

(49 607)

29 716

Deferred taxation
Environmental rehabilitation obligation funds
Current assets
Trade and other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Stated capital

12

Retained (losses)/earnings

338 905

187 778

176 301

21 239

549 004

62 106

24.3

139 368

56 528

16

331 364

–

Attributable to equity owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

13

Non-current liabilities
Deferred taxation
Borrowings
Other financial liability
Finance lease liability
Environmental rehabilitation provision

18

53 053

–

14.2

34 961

–

17

11 980

5 579

399 127

6 404

Current liabilities
Cash and cash equivalents

11

85 547

–

Trade and other payables

15

232 555

1 174

Borrowings

16

–

5 221

Environmental rehabilitation provision

17

–

10

14.2

44 508

–

8

36 517

–

1 463 337

277 527

Finance lease liability
Non-current disposal group held-for-sale
Total equity and liabilities
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the Chrometco Group
for the year ended 28 February 2018
Note

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Revenue

19

336 764

–

Cost of sales

20

(254 015)

–

82 749

–

Other income

21

10 897

294

Depreciation and amortisation

22

(46 953)

(10 954)

Other expenses

23

(19 844)

–

(16 833)

(5 907)

Professional fees

(7 186)

–

Maintenance expenses

(2 870)

–

Gross profit

Salaries

Gain on bargain purchase
Impairment

5

9 923

–

25

(153 530)

–

(143 647)

(16 567)

Finance income

26

8 337

54

Finance cost

26

(15 479)

(819)

(150 789)

(17 332)

39 435

(7 518)

(111 354)

(24 850)

–

–

(111 354)

(24 850)

Attributable to owners of the parent

(79 323)

(20 245)

Attributable to non-controlling interest

(32 031)

(4 606)

Loss before interest and taxation

Loss before taxation
Taxation

27

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive loss for the year
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year

Basic loss per share (cents)

28.1

(9.58)

(7.36)

Diluted loss per share (cents)

28.2

(9.58)

(7.36)
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the Chrometco Group
for the year ended 28 February 2018

Balance at 28 February 2016
Total comprehensive loss for the year

Stated
capital
R

Retained
earnings
R

Ordinary
shareholders’
interest
R

Noncontrolling
interest
R

Total
R

158 062

49 960

208 022

25 845

233 867

–

(20 245)

(20 245)

(4 606)

(24 850)

Balance at 28 February 2017

158 062

29 716

187 777

21 239

209 017

Shares issued

230 450

–

230 450

–

230 450

Acquisition of subsidiary with non-controlling interests

–

–

–

132 702

132 702

Transaction with Onicastar (share issue)

–

–

–

54 391

54 391

–

(79 323)

(79 323)

(32 031)

(111 354)

388 512

(49 607)

338 905

176 301

515 206

Total comprehensive loss for the year
Balance at 28 February 2018
(i) Refer to note 6 for further details on the nature of this transaction.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the Chrometco Group
for the year ended 28 February 2018
Note
Cash utilised by operations and exploration activities

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

87 046

(4 002)

Operating loss before working capital changes

34.1

36 570

(5 587)

Working capital changes

34.2

50 476

1 586

26

4 695

54

Finance income received
Taxation paid

(2 663)

–

Net cash outflow from operating and exploration activities

89 078

(3 948)

(114 855)

–

Cash obtained as part of acquisitions

16 118

–

Net loans funded

(8 166)

–

Cash flows from investing activities
Property, plant and equipment additions

(2 152)

(177)

(109 054)

(177)

Shares issued

5 188

–

Group loan repayment

(3 000)

–

(17 489)

–

(5 514)

–

Loans (funded)/raised

(12 431)

5 000

Net cash inflow from financing activities

(33 246)

5 000

Increase in environmental rehabilitation obligation funds
Net cash outflow from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities

Finance lease payments
Borrowings – settled on acquisition

(53 222)

(875)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

11

2 560

1 685

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

11

(50 662)

2 560

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the Chrometco Group
for the year ended 28 February 2018
1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Chrometco Ltd (“the Company”) is a public Company which is listed on the AltX of the JSE Ltd and is incorporated and domiciled in the
Republic of South Africa. Chrometco Ltd is the holding Company of the Chrometco Group. These consolidated financial statements comprise
the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as “the Group”). The Group is a mining and exploration Group, which focuses on
Chrome mining in South Africa. The financial statements are presented in South African Rand (“R”), being its base currency.

1.1

Statement of compliance
The financial statements for the year ended 28 February 2018 have been prepared on a going-concern basis in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, the South African
Institute of Chartered Accountants Financial Reporting Guides issued by the Accounting Practices Committee, as well as the
requirements of the South African Companies Act and JSE Listings Requirements.
These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Company’s board of directors on 29 June 2018.
These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period, except for the following accounting policies which have been
applied for the first time:
Disposal group held for sale
Disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, are classified as held-for-sale if it is highly probable that they will be recovered
primarily through sale rather than through continuing use.
Such assets, or disposal groups, are generally measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Any
impairment loss on a disposal group is allocated first to goodwill, and then to the remaining assets and liabilities on a pro rata basis,
except that no loss is allocated to inventories, financial assets or deferred tax assets, which continue to be measured in accordance
with the Group’s other accounting policies. Impairment losses on initial classification as held-for-sale and subsequent gains and losses
on remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.
Once classified as held for sale, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment are no longer amortised or depreciated.
Finance leases
Assets acquired through a finance lease are initially recognised at the lower of fair value and minimum lease payment on acquisition
date. The corresponding liability is recognised as a finance lease obligation on the same date.
Finance lease repayments are apportioned between finance costs and capital repayments when they are repaid. This is done to ensure
that there is a constant rate of interest applied on the remaining balance of the finance lease obligation remaining.

1.2

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by assets held-for-sale
and financial assets and liabilities measured through profit and loss (including derivative instruments), which have been brought to
account at fair value through profit or loss or through other comprehensive income.

1.3

Critical judgements and key estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable about the
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may vary from these estimates.
The most significant areas requiring the use of management estimates and assumptions relate to mineral reserves and resources that
are the basis of future cash flow estimates used for impairment assessments and units-of-production depreciation and amortisation
calculations, estimates of recoverable materials in stockpiles inventories, provision for environmental rehabilitation costs, and business
combinations.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of revision and future periods, if the
revision affects both current and future periods.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
1.3

Critical judgements and key estimates (continued)
Significant judgements and critical estimates include:
Impairment testing
The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and individual assets have been determined based on the higher of value-inuse calculations and fair values less costs to sell. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions. It is reasonably
possible that the assumptions may change, which may then impact our estimations and may then require a material adjustment to the
carrying value of goodwill and property, plant and equipment.
Amortisation and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight line over management’s best estimate of their useful lives. Amortisation of
intangible assets is amortised over the life of the underlying mining rights.
Mineral reserves and resources estimates
Mineral reserves are estimates of the amount of product, inclusive of diluting materials and allowances for losses, which can be
economically and legally extracted from the Group’s properties, as determined by life-of-mine schedules or prefeasibility studies.
Mineral resources are estimates, based on specific geological evidence and knowledge, including sampling, of the amount of product
in situ, for which there is a reasonable prospect for eventual legal and economic extraction.
In order to calculate the reserves and resources, estimates and assumptions are required about a range of geological, technical and
economic factors, including but not limited to quantities, grades, production techniques, recovery rates, production costs, capital
expenditure, transport costs, commodity demand, commodity prices and exchange rates.
Estimating the quantity and grade of the mineral reserves and resources is based on exploration and sampling information gathered
through appropriate techniques (primarily diamond drilling, reverse circulation drilling, air-core and sonic drilling), surface threedimensional reflection seismics, ore body faces modelling, structural modelling, geological mapping, detailed ore zone wireframes and
geostatistical estimation. This process may require complex and difficult geological judgements and calculations to interpret the data.
The Group is required to determine and report on the mineral reserves and resources in accordance with the South African Mineral
Resource Committee (“SAMREC”) code on an annual basis.
Estimates of mineral reserves and resources may change from year to year due to the change in economic, regulatory, infrastructural
or social assumptions used to estimate ore reserves and resources, and due to additional geological data becoming available.
Changes in reported proven and probable reserves may affect the Group’s financial results and position in a number of ways, including
the following:
• The recoverable amount used in the impairment calculations may be affected due to changes in estimated cash flows or timing
thereof.
• Amortisation and depreciation charges to profit or loss may change as these are calculated on the units-of-production method, or
where the useful economic lives of assets change.
• Provision for environmental rehabilitation costs may change where changes in ore reserves affect expectations about the timing or
cost of these activities.
• The carrying value of deferred tax assets may change due to changes in estimates of the likely recovery of the tax benefits.
Provision for environmental rehabilitation costs
The Group’s mining and exploration activities are subject to various laws and regulations governing the protection of the environment.
The Group recognises management’s best estimate for the provision of environmental rehabilitation costs in the period in which
they are incurred. Actual costs incurred in future periods could differ materially from the estimates. Additionally, future changes to
environmental laws and regulations, life-of-mine estimates and discount rates could affect the carrying amount of this provision.
Refer note 17 for further details of key assumptions used to estimate the provision.
Inventories
Net realisable value tests are performed at least annually and represent the estimated future sales price of the product the entity
expects to realise when the product is processed and sold, less estimated costs to complete production and bring the product to sale.
Where the time value of money is material, these future prices and costs to complete are discounted.
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Stockpiles are measured by estimating the number of tonnes added and removed from the stockpile. The chrome content is based on
assay data from sample tests.
Stockpile tonnages are verified by periodic surveys.
Business combinations
Determination of whether a set of assets acquired and liabilities assumed constitute the acquisition of a business or asset may
require the Group to make certain judgements as to whether or not the assets acquired and liabilities assumed include the inputs,
processes and outputs necessary to constitute a business as defined in IFRS 3 Business Combinations. Based on an assessment
of the relevant facts and circumstances, the Group concluded that the acquisition of Black Chrome operation was a business
combination on 18 July 2017 and Sail Minerals at 1 August 2017. Refer note 5.
Refer to the specific accounting policies below for additional information regarding the estimates and assumptions used.

1.4

New standards and interpretations
At the date of authorisation of the financial statements of Chrometco Ltd for the year ended 28 February 2018, the following standards
and interpretations that are relevant to the Group were in issue, but not yet effective:
Standard

Details of standard or amendment

IFRS 9
Financial
Instruments

New standard that replaces IAS 39. The standard incorporates classification
and measurement requirements that are driven by cash flow characteristics and
the Group business model. Financial instruments are classified into one of three
classes: amortised cost, fair value through profit or loss and fair value through
other comprehensive income. The standard also incorporates a forward-looking
“expected loss” impairment. Hedge accounting has been substantially modified
and is more aligned with risk management activities.

Annual periods
beginning on or after
1 January 2018

The new standard is not expected to have a significant impact on the Group.
None of the classifications of the current financial instruments will change due to
the limited exposure to the standard.
IFRS 15
Revenue from
Contracts with
Customers

New standard that replaces IAS 11 Construction Contracts, IAS 18, IFRIC 13
customer loyalty programmes, IFRIC 15 agreements for the construction of real
estate, IFRIC 18 transfers of assets from customers and SIC-31 revenue-barter
transactions involving advertising services. IFRS 15 specifies how and when the
Group will recognise revenue as well as requiring such entities to provide users
of financial statements with more informative, relevant disclosures. The standard
provides a single, principles-based five-step model to be applied to all contracts
with customers.

1 January 2018

The Group has assessed that the impact of this new standard would not have
significant impact. All current revenue contracts have been considered, and the
recognition and measurement impact of applying the amendments would be the
same as the current revenue recognition and measurement.
The Group will adopt IFRS 15 using the cumulative effect method, with the effect
of initially applying this standard at the date of initial application (i.e. 1 January
2018). As a result, the Group will not apply the requirements of IFRS 15 to the
comparative periods presented.
IFRS 16
Leases

New standard that replaces IAS 17. IFRS 16 specifies how the Group will
recognise, measure, present and disclose leases. The standard provides a single
lessee accounting model, requiring lessees to recognise assets and liabilities
for all leases unless the lease term is 12 months or less or the underlying asset
has a low value. Lessors continue to classify leases as operating or finance,
with IFRS 16’s approach to lessor accounting substantially unchanged from its
predecessor, IAS 17.

1 January 2019

The Group has assessed that the impact of the application of this standard will
not have a significant impact on the Group. All current revenue contracts have
been considered by applying the 5 steps include in IFRS 16, and the recognition
and measurement impact of applying the amendments would be the same as the
current revenue recognition and measurement.
None of these standards and interpretations have been early adopted by the group.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
1.5

Basis of consolidation
Business combinations
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the Group. The consideration transferred
for the acquisition of a business is the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by
the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity
securities. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially
at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets. Subsequently, the
carrying amount of non-controlling interest is the amount of the interest at initial recognition plus the non-controlling interest’s share of
the subsequent changes in equity.
The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition date fair
value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If this is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is
recognised directly in profit or loss.
Subsidiary companies and other controlled entities
Subsidiaries are all entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the relevant activities
of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group until the date on which
control ceases.
Total comprehensive income is attributed to the owners of the parent and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the noncontrolling interests having a deficit balance.
Intra-Group transactions, balances and unrealised gains or losses are eliminated on consolidation. Intra-Group balances and
transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-Group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that
there is no evidence of impairment.

1.6

Property, plant and equipment
Mining assets
Mining assets includes exploration, evaluation and development expenditure, borrowing costs, mining rights acquisition costs and
associated mining equipment.
Exploration and evaluation costs include costs directly related to exploration and evaluation activities in the relevant area of interest.
General and administration costs were allocated to the asset to the extent that those costs can be related directly to operational
activities in the area of interest.
Development costs comprises of costs directly attributable to the construction of a mine and related infrastructure. This will include the
development of shaft systems and waste rock removal that allows access to reserves that are economically recoverable in the future.
It also includes capitalised expenditure comprising of depreciation, employee costs and certain overhead costs incurred during the
development phase.
Mining assets are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Other assets (including mobile mining vehicles)
All other property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost and subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses. These assets include the assets of the mining operations not included in mine development and
infrastructure.
Property, plant and equipment are initially stated at cost. Cost is the fair value of the consideration given to acquire the asset at the
time of its acquisition and includes the direct cost of bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for operation and the
estimated future cost of closure and rehabilitation of the facility.
Subsequent measurement is at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is provided
on the straight-line basis, over the estimated useful lives of assets to the residual value.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
1.6. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Amortisation and depreciation of mining assets
Amortisation and depreciation is determined to give a fair and systematic charge to profit or loss taking into account the nature of a
particular mineral reserve and the method of mining that mineral reserve. To achieve this, the following calculation methods are used:
• Mine development and infrastructure costs are amortised over the life of the mine using the units-of-production method, based on
estimated proved and probable mineral reserve;
• Proved and probable mineral reserves reflect estimated quantities of economically recoverable reserves, which can be recovered in
future from known mineral deposits.
Deferred stripping
Production stripping costs in a surface mine are capitalised to property, plant and equipment if, and only if, all of the following criteria
are met:
• It is probable that the future economic benefit associated with the stripping activity will flow to the entity;
• The entity can identify the component of the ore body for which access has been improved; and
• The costs relating to the stripping activity associated with that component can be measured reliably.
If the above criteria are not met, the stripping costs are recognised directly in profit or loss.
The Group initially measures the stripping activity asset at cost, this being the accumulation of costs directly incurred to perform the
stripping activity that improves access to the identified component of ore.
After initial recognition, the stripping activity asset is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses.
Disposals
Surpluses/(deficits) on the disposal of property, plant and equipment are credited to income. The surplus or deficit is the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset.
Impairment
Recoverability of the carrying values of long-term assets are reviewed whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
such carrying value may not be recoverable. To determine whether a long-term asset may be impaired, the higher of value in use or fair
value less cost of disposal is compared to the carrying value of the asset/unit. Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.
The depreciation method, residual values and useful lives are reviewed annually and adjusted if appropriate.

1.7

Intangible assets
Mining rights and geological information acquired through share-based payment transactions are recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. All other acquisitions of mineral properties are initially recognised at cost. Cost is the fair value of the consideration
given to acquire the asset. Mineral properties are amortised over the life of the related mining right.
Subsequent measurement is at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is provided
on the straight-line basis, over the estimated useful lives of assets.
Goodwill
Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill on acquisition of a subsidiary is assessed annually or
whenever there are impairment indicators to establish whether there is any indication of impairment to goodwill. A write-down is made
if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. Gains and losses on the
disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the entity sold.

1.8

Impairment
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each statement of financial position date to determine
whether there is any indication of impairment. If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, its recoverable amount is
estimated. The recoverable amount is the higher of its net selling price and its value-in-use.
In assessing value-in-use, the expected future cash flows from the asset are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is
recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
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1.9

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as:
• Loans and receivables;
• financial assets at fair value through profit or loss; and
• financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.
Classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were obtained/incurred and takes place at initial recognition.
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value plus transaction costs.
Transaction costs on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss.
Subsequent measurement
Loans and receivables, which include trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less accumulated impairment losses.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, which consists of an investment in Guardrisk (see note 7 for further information), are
subsequently measured at fair value with adjustment recognised in profit or loss.
Financial liabilities, which consist of trade and other payables and borrowings at amortised cost, are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term, highly liquid investments readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and subject to insignificant risk of changes in value and are measured at amortised cost which is deemed to
be fair value as they have a short-term maturity.
Bank overdrafts are included within current liabilities in the statement of financial position and within cash and cash equivalents in the
statement of cash flows.
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are impaired using an allowance account. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans
and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.
Trade payables
Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, where applicable and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least
12 months after the reporting date.
Interest payable on borrowings is recognised in profit or loss over the term of the borrowings using the effective interest method.
Finance expense comprises interest on borrowings and environmental rehabilitation costs offset by interest capitalised on qualifying
assets.
Cash flows from interest paid are classified under operating activities in the statement of cash flows.
Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets are derecognised when all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets have been transferred. Financial
liabilities are derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expired.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
1.10 Revenue
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated rebates and
settlement discounts receivable, and other similar allowances.
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and the legal title has passed. At this time, the following
conditions are met:
• The Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods.
• The Group has neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership, nor effective control over
the goods.
• The amount of revenue can be measured reliably.
• It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow into the Group.
• The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

1.11 Investment income
Interest is recognised on a time proportion basis, taking account of the principal outstanding and the effective rate over the period to
maturity, when it is probable that such income will accrue to the Group.

1.12 Taxation
Current taxation
Current taxation is recognised as income or an expense and included in the statement of other comprehensive income, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. The current taxation payable is based
on taxable profit. Taxable profit differs from profit reported in the statement of other comprehensive income where there are items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it also excludes items that are not taxable or deductible under
existing tax legislation.
Current taxation liabilities and current taxation assets are measured at the amount expected to be paid to/(recovered from) the tax
authorities, using the tax rates and tax legislation that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.
Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences. Temporary differences are differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax base. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner
of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
statement of financial position date. Deferred tax is charged to the statement of comprehensive income. The effect on deferred tax of
any changes in tax rates is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the
associated unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

1.13 Provisions
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost in profit or
loss.
Environmental rehabilitation provision
Long-term provisions for environmental rehabilitation costs are based on the Group’s environmental management plans, in compliance
with applicable environmental and regulatory requirements.
Rehabilitation work can include facility decommissioning and dismantling, removal or treatment of waste materials, site and land
rehabilitation, including compliance with and monitoring of environmental regulations, security and other site related costs required to
perform the rehabilitation work and operations of equipment designed to reduce or eliminate environmental effects.
Full provision is made based on the net present value of the estimated cost of restoring the environmental disturbance that has
occurred up to the reporting date. The unwinding of the obligation is accounted for in profit or loss.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
1.13. Provisions (continued)
The estimated costs of rehabilitation are reviewed annually and adjusted as appropriate for changes in legislation, technology or other
circumstances. Cost estimates are not reduced by the potential proceeds from the sale of assets or from plant clean up at closure.
Changes in estimates are capitalised or reversed against the relevant asset, except where a reduction in the provision is greater than
the remaining net book value of the related asset, in which case the value is reduced to nil and the remaining adjustment is recognised
in profit or loss. In the case of closed sites, changes in estimates and assumptions are recognised in profit or loss. Estimates are
discounted at the risk-free rate in the jurisdiction of the obligation.
Increases due to additional environmental disturbances are capitalised and amortised over the remaining lives of the mines. These
increases are accounted for on a net present value basis.
Annual contributions are made to a dedicated rehabilitation funding vehicle, to fund the estimated cost of rehabilitation during and at
the end of the life-of-mine. The amounts contributed to this vehicle are included under non-current assets. Interest earned on monies
paid to rehabilitation vehicles are accrued on a time proportion basis and is recorded as interest income. Bank and other guarantees
are provided for funding of the environmental rehabilitation obligations.

1.14 Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits
The cost of all short-term employee benefits is recognised during the period in which the employee renders the related service.
The provisions for employee entitlements represent the amount, which the Group has a present obligation to pay as a result of
employees’ services provided to the statement of financial position date. The provisions have been calculated at undiscounted
amounts based on current wage and salary rates.

1.15 Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise deposits held on call with banks, and investments in
money market instruments, all of which are available for use by the Group unless otherwise stated.

1.16 Business combinations
Refer to note 1.5 for the policies on accounting for Business Combinations.

1.17 Inventory
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Costs of stockpiled inventories are determined on the weighted average method. Cost includes production, amortisation and related
administration costs.
Consumable stores are valued at weighted average cost, after appropriate provision for redundant and slow-moving items.
The net realisable value for the inventories represent the estimated selling price for the inventories, less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Net realisable value is determined with reference to relevant market prices.

1.18 Disposal group and non-current assets and liabilities held for sale
Disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, are classified as held-for-sale if it is highly probable that they will be recovered
primarily through sale rather than through continuing use.
Such assets, or disposal groups, are generally measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. Any
impairment loss on a disposal group is allocated first to goodwill, and then to the remaining assets and liabilities on a pro rata basis,
except that no loss is allocated to inventories, financial assets or deferred tax assets, which continue to be measured in accordance
with the Group’s other accounting policies. Impairment losses on initial classification as held-for-sale and subsequent gains and losses
on remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.
Once classified as held for sale, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment are no longer amortised or depreciated.
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1.19 Finance leases
Assets acquired through a finance lease are initially recognised at the lower of fair value and minimum lease payment on acquisition
date. The corresponding liability is recognised as a finance lease obligation on the same date.
Finance lease repayments are apportioned between finance costs and capital repayments when they are repaid. This is done to ensure
that there is a constant rate of interest applied on the remaining balance of the finance lease obligation remaining.

1.20 Stated capital
Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised as a
deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

1.21 Earnings per share
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share. Basic earnings per share is calculated based on the profit attributable to
ordinary shareholders divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period. Diluted earnings per
share is determined by adjusting the profit attributable to ordinary shareholders, if applicable, and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue for ordinary shares that may be issued in the future.

1.22 Headline earnings
Headline earnings is an additional earnings number that is permitted by IAS 33 Earnings per Share (“IAS 33”) as set out in the SAICA
Circular 2/2015 (Circular). The starting point is earnings as determined in IAS 33, excluding separately identifiable remeasurements
net of related tax (both current and deferred) and related non-controlling interest, other than re-measurements specifically included in
headline earnings. A remeasurement is an amount recognised in profit or loss relating to any change (whether realised or unrealised)
in the carrying amount of an asset or liability that arose after the initial recognition of such asset or liability.

2. CONSOLIDATION
Percentage
holding

Relationship
with the
Company

28 February 2018
Umnotho weSizwe Resources (Pty) Ltd (i)
Sail Minerals (Pty) Ltd
Sail Contracting (Pty) Ltd

0

Refer (i)

51

Subsidiary

0

Special Purpose Vehicle

74

Subsidiary

100

Subsidiary

Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd

76

Subsidiary

Chrometco Mining Services (Pty) Ltd

51

Subsidiary

74

Subsidiary

100

Subsidiary

76

Subsidiary

100

Subsidiary

Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd
Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd

28 February 2017
Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd
Korpo Trust (Pty) Ltd
Pilanesberg Mining Company (Pty) Ltd
Chrometco Mining Services (Pty) Ltd

The Company’s voting power is in direct proportion to their percentage shareholding. The above mentioned subsidiaries are incorporated and
operate in South Africa.
(i) The Group has contractual control over Umnotho weSizwe Resources (Pty) Ltd.
(ii) The Group has control over the special purpose vehicle of Sail Contracting (Pty) Ltd.
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Summary of acquisitions during the period
The Group entered into a contract on 18 July 2017, the results of which led to it acquiring the following interests in entities:
• 25% of Sail Minerals (Pty) Ltd.
• 51% of Black Chrome Holdings (Pty) Ltd will be concluded upon completion of Tranche 2 of the agreement.
Refer to note 5: Acquisition of Black Chrome Operations for further information regarding this.
Prior to this, the Management Agreement between Sail Minerals (Pty) Ltd and Umnotho weSizwe Resources (Pty) Ltd was signed. This
allowed Sail Minerals (Pty) Ltd to mine the mining right of Umnotho weSizwe Resources (Pty) Ltd. Sail’s mining of the Umnotho weSizwe
Resource (Pty) Ltd mining right is referred to as the Black Chrome Operation.
On 1 August 2017, the Group acquired a net interest in Sail Minerals (Pty) Ltd of 51% (acquisition of an additional 26% interest). From this
date, Sail Minerals (Pty) Ltd has been consolidated, and therefore the Black Chrome Operations have also been consolidated.

3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Mobile
mining
vehicles

Mining
assets
Useful life

Life of Mine
(10 to 26 years)

Total

Three years Three to 10 years

Carrying amount 1 March 2016

1 993

–

6

1 999

Cost

2 118

–

53

2 171

(125)

–

(47)

(172)

Accumulated depreciation
Depreciation

(82)

–

(3)

(85)

Changes in estimates

948

–

–

948

–

–

(3)

(3)

Carrying amount 28 February 2017

2 859

–

–

2 859

Cost

3 066

–

50

3 116

(207)

–

(50)

(257)

722 486

68 490

18 960

809 278

88 695

119 144

3 031

198 525

(25 191)

(14 793)

(1 198)

(41 182)

(13 617)

–

–

(1 272)

–

–

–

–

Disposals

Accumulated depreciation
Business combination acquisition
Additions
Depreciation
Changes in estimate

1

Disposals

(5 556)

–

–

(5 556)

Carrying amount 28 February 2018

769 018

172 841

20 794

962 653

Cost

839 936

190 967

31 989

1 062 892

Accumulated depreciation

(70 918)

(18 126)

(11 195)

(100 239)

Reallocation to held-for-sale assets

1

Other

The amount relates to the change in estimate in the environmental rehabilitation provision (refer to note 17).

There are no encumbrances other than the surety provided on certain assets as per note 14.
All property, plant and equipment is held in the Republic of South Africa.
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4. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Total
R’000
Useful life
Carrying amount 1 March 2016

279 755

Cost

309 405

Accumulated amortisation

(29 650)

Amortisation

(10 869)

Carrying amount 28 February 2017

268 886

Cost

309 405

Accumulated amortisation

(40 519)

Amortisation
Impairment

(5 771)
(120 535)
–

Acquired as part of the business combination
Reallocation to held-for-sale assets

(126 723)

Carrying amount 28 February 2018

15 857

Cost

15 857
–

Accumulated amortisation
The remaining amortisation period of the geological information and the mining right at 28 February 2018 was 23.75 years (2017: 24.75).
This has been classified as a held-for-sale asset. Refer note 8 for further information.

5. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
5.1

Acquisition of the Black Chrome Operation
On 18 July 2017, the shareholders of Chrometco approved the resolution to acquire the shares of Black Chrome Holdings Proprietary
Limited and issue the acquisition shares to Grand Slam Enterprise Proprietary Limited. The primary reason for the acquisition was to
bring an operating asset into the Group. Goodwill has been recognised as part of the acquisition due to an increased share price at the
time of obtaining shareholder approval.
The conditions precedent to Tranche 1 of the Black Chrome Share Swap Agreement were fulfilled and accordingly Chrometco issued
835 000 000 shares to Grand Slam Enterprise in exchange for 25% interest in Sail Minerals Proprietary Limited and the appointment of
Chrometco Mining Services Proprietary Limited as the exclusive subcontractor in terms of the Management Agreement between Sail
Minerals Proprietary Limited and Umnotho weSizwe Resources Proprietary Limited.
Chrometco obtained contractual control of the Black Chrome Operation (which is the operation of Umnotho weSizwe Resources (Pty)
Ltd), by virtue of the Management Agreement.
In terms of the Black Chrome Share Swap Agreement, Chrometco will issue a further 1 370 000 000 shares to Grand Slam Enterprise
Proprietary Limited upon implementation of Tranche 2 of the Black Chrome Share Swap Agreement. The conditions to Tranche 2 have
been disclosed to shareholders in the Circular dated 30 May 2017.
The purchase price allocation has been prepared on a provisional basis in accordance with IFRS 3. The values measured on a
provisional basis include, inter alia, the mineral reserves and resources used to value the Black Chrome Operation which was based on
the most recent Black Chrome Mine Competent Person’s report. Any changes to the declared reserves and resources will be assessed
as to whether it existed at acquisition date. This valuation directly impacts the value allocated to property, plant and equipment,
deferred tax and the environmental rehabilitation provision.
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5. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)
5.1. Acquisition of the Black Chrome Operation (continued)
The following table summarises the recognised amounts of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date:
R’000
Property, plant and equipment
Investment in rehabilitation asset
Inventory
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Borrowings
Environmental rehabilitation obligation
Trade and other payables

729 122
329
17 439
7 816
4 810
(329 565)
(981)
(5 833)

Deferred tax

(120 892)

Total fair value of identifiable net assets acquired

302 245

The fair value of assets and liabilities excluding property plant and equipment, environmental rehabilitation obligation, deferred tax and
borrowings approximate their carrying value. The fair value of property, plant and equipment was based on the expected discounted
cash flows of the expected (chrome) reserves and costs to extract the chrome discounted at a real discount rate of 9.8% and an
average benchmark price for 42% chrome concentrate of USD165/t. The fair value of borrowings was determined as the present value
of the contractual repayments, applying a discount rate of 11.25%. The fair value of the environmental rehabilitation obligation was
determined as the present value of expected future rehabilitation costs, discounted at a real discount rate of 9.8%. The deferred tax
was calculated with reference to each of the previous fair value methods, depending on the underlying asset or liability. The above fair
value of identifiable net assets acquired are based on a level 3 fair value hierarchy.
Goodwill arising from the acquisition has been recognised as follows:
R’000
Consideration transferred (share issue)

220 254

Fair value of identifiable net assets

(302 245)

Non-controlling interests, based on their proportionate interest in the recognised amounts of the assets and
liabilities

122 456

Goodwill

40 465

Share price on 16 October 2016 – date of signature of the Black Chrome Share Swap Agreement – 17c /share
Share price on 18 July 2017 – date of shareholder approval for the transaction – 27c /share
Share price on 24 July 2017 – date of issue of the shares – 27c /share

5.2

Acquisition of Sail Minerals
On 1 August 2017, the Group obtained control over Sail Minerals (Pty) Ltd, after subscribing for a further 70 ordinary shares at a
subscription price of R53 650.00 per share, increasing Chrometco’s interest in Sail Minerals to 51%. This acquisition was effected to
consolidate all the mining related operating activities into Chrometco.
The subscription price will be settled by way of future dividends declared by Sail Minerals.
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The following table summarises the recognised amounts of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date:
R’000
Property, plant and equipment

80 157

Other financial assets

54 272

Inventory

38 855

Trade and other receivables

34 110

Cash and cash equivalents

11 273

Other financial liabilities

(76 114)

Finance lease liability

(10 304)

Trade and other payables

(92 781)

Deferred tax

(10 846)

Total fair value of identifiable net assets acquired

28 623

The fair value of assets and liabilities excluding other financial assets and deferred tax approximate their carrying value due to recently
being acquired or a short maturity date. The fair value of other financial assets was based on the expected discounted cash flows of
the expected loan repayments discounted at a discount rate of 11.25%. The gross contractual receivables included in other financial
assets is R67.3 million. The above fair value of identifiable net assets acquired are based on a level 3 fair value hierarchy.
R’000
3 756

Consideration transferred

5 033

Investment in Sail Minerals held prior to obtaining control (share issue)
Settlement of a pre-existing relationship

(4 114)

(i)

Fair value of identifiable net assets

(28 623)

Non-controlling interests, based on their proportionate interest in the recognised amounts of the assets and
liabilities

14 025

Gain on bargain purchase

(9 923)

(i) The settlement of the pre-existing relationship was the adjustment to Group intercompany balances of loans, receivables and payables when Sail Minerals changed from
being an associate to a subsidiary. This settlement was done on a similar basis as noted below i.e. at fair value of assets and liabilities at the date of change from an
associate to a subsidiary.

The bargain purchase was recognised due to the fact that the consideration transferred was less than the fair value of the net
identifiable assets of the subsidiary acquired and the measurement of all amounts has been reviewed, and the Group decided that the
procedures and resulting measures were appropriate.

6. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
2018
R’000
Onicastar loan

23 489

Black Chrome Holdings loan

50 119
9 236

Other
Balance at end of year

82 844

As a consequence of the unsuspensive nature of the Rooderand Transaction, the Group provided a loan to Onicastar (Pty) Ltd to subscribe for
shares in Rooderand (Pty) Ltd amounting to R54.4 million with the following terms:
• Bears interest at prime rate.
• Repayable out of all distributions made by Rooderand (Pty) Ltd to its shareholders.
• As security for proper and timeous payment and performance by Onicastar (Pty) Ltd, Onicastar (Pty) Ltd has ceded and pledged all of the
shares they own in Rooderand (Pty) Ltd to the group.
As at 28 February 2018, an amount of R33.0 million was deemed to be not recoverable and impaired. This was due to the value of the
Rooderand (Pty) Ltd disposal group already recognised at fair value.
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6. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)
The Group acquired a loan receivable from Black Chrome Holdings (Pty) Ltd as part of the Sail Minerals Business Combination. This was
issued for R55.4 million. A further R8.1 million was advanced during the year. A change in estimate, since acquisition, revalued this balance by
R13.4 million. This bears the following terms:
• Bears interest at prime rate + 3.3%, with a 24-month interest moratorium on these loans after regulatory approval for the transfer of the
Umnotho weSizwe Resources mining right is obtained.
• Repayable with fixed repayment terms. There is a three-year capital repayment moratorium following the regulatory approval for the transfer
of the Umnotho weSizwe Resources mining right.

7. ENVIRONMENTAL REHABILITATION OBLIGATION FUNDS
2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Balance at beginning of the year

3 158

3 007

Funds invested during the year

2 646

177

329

–

Funds deposited in Guard Risk Insurance Company Ltd (“Guard Risk”)

Acquired as part of a business combination
Net management fee
Balance at end of year

(337)

(26)

5 796

3 158

The Group’s environmental rehabilitation obligation funds consists of contributions to investment funds held by Guard Risk, which are in turn
used to provide guarantees to the Department of Mineral Resources (DMR) in terms of rehabilitation and restoration commitments. The Group
earns investment income on funds deposited with Guard Risk at rates linked to short-term money market yields. All investment income arising
from this asset is re-invested in the Guard Risk fund.
The management fee relates to the management fees charged as per agreement with Guard Risk.

8. DISPOSAL GROUP HELD FOR SALE
During the year under review, the Group decided to actively explore options to dispose of the Rooderand operation. The Board is of the view
that a sale is highly probable and a sale is expected to be finalised within 12 months.
On 31 August 2017, the Rooderand assets and liabilities were reclassified to disposal group held-for-sale in terms of IFRS 5 and an
impairment was recognised to write the disposal group down to fair value.
Impairment losses relating to the disposal group held for sale:
Impairment losses of R120.5 million for write-downs of the Rooderand disposal group to the lower of its carrying amount and its fair value less
costs to sell have been disclosed separately in the condensed consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The impairment losses have
been applied to reduce the carrying amount of intangible assets within the disposal group.
Assets included in the disposal group held-for-sale is the following:
2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Non-current assets

132 279

–

Disposal group held for sale

132 279

–

27 643

–

8 874

–

36 517

–

Assets included:

Liabilities included:
Deferred tax
Environmental rehabilitation obligation
Disposal group held for sale

The non-recurring fair value measurement for the disposal group of R95.7 million has been categorised as a level 2 fair value. The fair value
was based on what a market participant will pay for the disposal group.
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9. INVENTORY
2018
R’000

2017
R’000

137 339

–

Other

26 749

–

Total

164 088

–

Stockpile

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the year ended 28 February 2018 was R254 015 (2017: Rnil).

10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2018
R’000

2017
R’000

24 293

–

Other

177

64

Total

24 470

64

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Current account

25 582

2 540

Restricted cash

9 303

20

Total current assets

34 885

2 560

Trade financing account

(85 547)

20

Total current liabilities

(85 547)

–

Total cash and cash equivalents

50 662

2 560

VAT receivable

No receivables are past due or considered to be impaired.

11. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The Group only deposits cash with major banks with high-quality credit ratings. The credit quality therefore is assessed as good.
Restricted cash
Cash had been encumbered as a result of guarantees issued to the Department of Mineral Resources.
Trade financing account
Cash that has been drawn down early on a revenue contract, giving rise to a short-term liability to be settled on settlement of the revenue
contract.

43

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the Chrometco Group (continued)
for the year ended 28 February 2018
12. STATED CAPITAL
2018
R’000

2017
R’000

–

–

274 929

274 929

Authorised
1 000 000 000 ordinary shares of no par value
Reconciliation of number of shares issued
Number of shares at beginning of the period
Ordinary shares of no par value
Allotment
Shares of no par value issued on 30 June 2017
Number of shares at end of the year

897 500

–

1 172 429

274 929

388 512

158 062

Stated capital
1 172 429 ordinary no par value shares (2017: 274 929 )
The unissued shares are under the control of the directors until the next Annual General Meeting.

13. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
The Group’s non-controlling interest relates to the following subsidiaries and entities under the control of the Group:
2018
R’000

2017
R’000

113 711

–

41 146

–

Subsidiaries
Umnotho weSizwe Resources (Pty) Ltd
Sail Minerals (Pty) Ltd
Sail Contracting (Pty) Ltd

(3 454)

–

Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd

24 898

21 239

176 301

21 239

2018
%

2017
%

100

–

Total
Non-controlling interests arise on the consolidation of the following entities.

Subsidiaries and controlled Group companies
Umnotho weSizwe Resources (Pty) Ltd
Sail Minerals (Pty) Ltd
Sail Contracting (Pty) Ltd
Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd

49

–

100

–

26

26

Refer to note 5 for additional information on the acquisition of Umnotho weSizwe Resources and Sail Minerals in the current period.
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Summarised financial information of Umnotho weSizwe Resources (Pty) Ltd:
2018
R’000

2017
R’000

8 746

–

247 049

–

18 665

–

(356 827)

–

(1 648)

–

(92 761)

–

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Total comprehensive profit for the year

(55 349)

–

Non-current assets

256 575

–

Current assets

273 150

–

Non-current liabilities

(78 218)

–

(377 228)

–

74 279

–

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Total comprehensive loss for the year
Non-current assets
Current assets
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Net liabilities
Summarised financial information of Sail Minerals (Pty) Ltd:

Current liabilities
Net assets
Summarised financial information of Sail Contracting (Pty) Ltd:

Total comprehensive profit for the year
Non-current assets
Current assets
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Net liabilities

(325)

–

1 461

–

33 164

–

–

–

(39 156)

–

(4 531)

–

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

96 515

(4 606)

Summarised financial information of Rooderand Chrome (Pty) Ltd:

Total comprehensive loss/profit for the year

100 201

252 356

Current assets

–

1

Non-current liabilities

–

(56 528)

Non-current assets

Current liabilities

(8 874)

(180)

Net assets

91 327

195 649

45

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the Chrometco Group (continued)
for the year ended 28 February 2018
14. FINANCE LEASE LIABILITY
14.1 Leasing arrangement
The Group leases certain of its mining equipment under financing leases. The average terms are for the majority of the useful life of the
capital assets.
The interest rate underlying all obligations under finance leases are fixed at the beginning of the respective contracts dates, and range
from 12.0% to 13.25%.
The assets leased in the current period have been capitalised as mining assets in note 3.
There are no contingent payables on these leases. None of the leases have been sublet. There are no renewal terms or purchase
options at the end of the lease term. The lease contracts do not allow for the resale or subleasing of the assets while there are
amounts outstanding per the lease agreement. There are no restrictions on the use of the leased assets such as restrictions on
borrowings, dividends or further leasing.

14.2 Finance lease liabilities – Minimum lease payments due

Not later than one year
Later than one year, but not later than five years
Total

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

82 044

–

61 878

–

143 923

–

16 392

–

127 531

–

Finance lease liability

82 044

–

Non-current liabilities

44 508

–

Current liabilities

34 961

–

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

232 555

1 474

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

252 484

–

Less: Future finance charges
Present value of minimum lease payments
Included in the financial statements

15. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables

16. BORROWINGS

Non-current borrowings
IDC Loan i
Related party loan

ii

Total non-current borrowings

78 880

–

331 364

–

–

5 221

Current borrowings
Sail Minerals loan iii
Total current borrowings
Total

5 221
331 364

5 221

i	This loan was acquired as part of the business combination of the Black Chrome Operations. The lender of this loan is the Industrial Development Corporation SOC Ltd. This loan
bears interest at a rate of prime +3.3%. There is a 24-month interest moratorium on these loans after regulatory approval for the transfer of the Umnotho weSizwe Resources
mining right is obtained. There are fixed repayment terms for this loan, after a three-year capital repayment moratorium after the regulatory approval is obtained.
ii	This loan was acquired as part of the business combination of the Black Chrome Operations. The lender of this loan is Black Chrome Holdings (Pty) Ltd. This loan bears interest
at a rate of prime +3.3%. There is a 24-month interest moratorium on these loans after regulatory approval for the transfer of the Umnotho weSizwe Resources mining right is
obtained. There is a three-year capital repayment moratorium after regulatory approval is obtained.
iii Sail Minerals was acquired in the current period. The consolidated effect of this loan is therefore nil in the current period.
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17. ENVIRONMENTAL REHABILITATION PROVISION
2018
R’000

2017
R’000

5 579

4 042

981

–

Provision for rehabilitation of land disturbed by mining
Balance beginning of the period
Environmental rehabilitation obligation on acquisition of subsidiaries
Day one adjustment to the fair value
Interest expense i
Change in estimate ii

1 271

–

677

–

12 345

1 547

Reclassified as held for sale

(8 874)

–

Balance at end of year

11 980

5 589

Current portion of environmental rehabilitation provision
Non-current portion of environmental rehabilitation provision

–

10

11 980

5 579

i	The provision is calculated based on the discount rates of 8.15% to 9.11% (2017: 9.29% to 9.64%).
ii	The change in estimate is as a result of changes in the reserves and resources, changes to the life of mine, changes to discount rate, changes to inflation, and changes to the laws
and regulations governing the rehabilitation obligations. Inflation rate used is 6% (2017: 6%).

18. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITY
2018
R’000

2017
R’000

53 053

–

53 053

–

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

336 764

–

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Cost of sales – direct

33 738

–

Cost of sales – indirect

29 118

–

Cost of sales – procurement and transport

191 159

–

Total

254 015

–

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Other income

10 897

294

Total

10 897

294

Other financial liability

19. REVENUE

Sale of chrome ore

20. COST OF SALES

21. OTHER INCOME
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22. DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION
2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Depreciation

41 182

85

Amortisation

5 771

10 869

46 953

10 954

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Legal fees

1 125

1 067

Insurance

1 418

–

Electricity and water

4 055

–

Security

5 649

–

Medical expenses

1 073

–

Travel and accommodation

1 438

–

Total

23. OTHER EXPENSES

Operating expenses include:

3 820

–

Other

1 266

4 840

Total

19 844

5 907

(8 295)

–

Change in estimate on other financial assets

4 475

–

Total

(3 820)

–

Change in estimate adjustment

(i)

Operating expenses include:
Change in estimate on borrowings

(i) The change in estimate is made on the following items:

The change in estimate relates to a reestimation at 28 February 2018 of the loans. These have been reestimated based on market factors that
have changed relating to the timing of the expected cash flows relating to the financial instruments. The expected timing of certain conditions
outside of the control of management of the loan contracts have been amended. These have been adjusted in line with AG 8 of IAS 39.
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24. DIRECTOR EMOLUMENTS AND PRESCRIBED OFFICER REMUNERATION
For services
as directors
R’000

Remuneration
R’000

Total
R’000

–

1 440

1 440

2018
Executives
NL Waisberg
MN Naude

–

613

613

PJ Cilliers

–

738

738

Prescribed officers
W Yang

–

408

408

L McCann

–

1 194

1 194

K Gloy

–

1 108

1 108

H Mackenzie

–

1 600

1 600

Subtotal

–

7 101

7 101

Non-executives
500

–

500

LJ Jordaan

42

–

42

NP Thomas

300

–

300

BL Sibiya

JG Scott

56

–

56

E Bramley

56

–

56

IWS Collair

56

–

56

R Rossiter

36

–

36

Subtotal

1 046

–

842

Total

1 046

7 101

8 147

–

600

600

2017
Executives
PJ Cilliers
NL Waisberg

–

300

300

Subtotal

–

900

900

48

–

48

Non-executives
JG Scott
E Bramley

48

–

48

IWS Collair

48

–

48

48

–

48

Subtotal

192

–

192

Total

192

900

1 092

R Rossiter
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25. IMPAIRMENT

Impairment on intangible assets
Impairment on other financial assets
Total

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

120 535

–

32 995

–

153 530

–

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

8 337

54

26. INVESTMENT INCOME AND FINANCE COST

Interest received on environmental rehabilitation obligation funds and cash balances
Finance cost arising on the unwinding of the environmental rehabilitation provision
Finance cost arising on borrowings and finance leases
Total investment income
Total finance costs
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(1 127)

(599)

(14 352)

(221)

8 337

54

(15 479)

(819)

27. TAXATION
2018
R’000

2017
R’000

South African normal tax:

27.1

Current tax

3 107

–

Deferred tax

(42 542)

(7 518)

Subtotal

(39 435)

(7 518)

28.00

28.00

(9.40)

(0.02)

Reconciliation of tax rate
South African normal tax rate
Adjusted for:
Non-deductible/taxable expenditure/income
Capital gains tax (CGT) effect on amortisation of intangible assets
Change in CGT rate

–

(54.19)

Deferred tax not recognised

–

(8.87)

7.59

–

–

(1.72)

26.18

(43.38)

40 461

35 892

Incurred during the year

(3 107)

40 461

Available for set-off against future taxable income

37 354

40 461

–

35 892

Recognition of deferred tax previously unrecognised
Expenditure of a capital nature
Effective tax rate

27.2

(6.58)

Estimated tax losses
At beginning of year

Unutilised tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is not probable at year-end that taxable profit will be available in the
foreseeable future against which the temporary difference can be utilised. All deferred tax attributable to off-set of future taxable
incomes relate to Chrometco Pty Ltd.

27.3

Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax liability
At beginning of year

(56 528)

(49 010)

Charge for the year

42 542

1 903

–

(9 421)

(131 304)

–

Change in CGT rate
Acquired as part of business combination
Transferred to liabilities held for sale
At end of year

27 643

–

(117 647)

(56 528)

60 631

(56 528)

(21 307)

–

Comprising temporary differences on:
Assets
Intangible asset
Liabilities
Mining assets

(110 224)

–

Unredeemed capex

(18 933)

–

Income received in advance

(17 890)

–

(9 924)

–

(117 647)

(56 528)

21 722

–

(139 368)

(56 528)

Assessed losses

Other
Total net deferred tax
Total deferred tax asset
Total deferred tax liability
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28. LOSS PER SHARE
28.1 Basic loss per share
The calculation of basic loss per share at 28 February 2018 is based on a loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of R79 323
(2017: R20 245) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year ended 28 February 2018 of 828 182
(2017: 274 929), calculated as follows:
Number of shares issued

Weighted average number of shares

2018
’000

2017
’000

2018
’000

2017
’000

274 929

274 929

274 929

274 929

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
Issued shares at beginning of year
Movement for the year
Weighted average number of ordinary shares at end of year

897 500

–

55 253

–

1 172 429

274 929

828 182

274 929

(9.58)

(7.36)

Loss per share (cents)

28.2 Diluted loss per share
The calculation of diluted basic loss per share at 28 February 2018 is based on a loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of R79 323
(2017: R20 245) and a diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year ended 28 February 2018 of
828 182 (2017: 274 929), calculated as follows:
Number of shares issued

Weighted average number of shares

2018

2017

2018

2017

Issued shares at beginning of year

274 929

274 929

274 929

274 929

Movement for the year

897 500

–

553 253

–

1 172 429

274 929

828 182

274 929

(9.58)

(7.36)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at end of year
Loss per share (cents)

28.3 Headline loss per share and diluted headline loss per share
The calculation of headline loss per share at 28 February 2018 is based on the loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of R79 323
(2017: R20 245) and a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year ended 28 February 2018 of 828 182
(2017: 274 929), and diluted headline loss per share is based on a weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding at that
date of 828 182 (2017: 274 929) calculated as in 19.1 and 19.2.
2018
Gross
Headline earnings reconciliation
Loss after taxation attributable to equity holders of the Group

2018
Net

2017
Gross

2017
Net

R’000

R’000

R’000

R’000

(79 323)

(79 323)

(20 245)

(20 245)

(9 923)

(9 923)

–

–

153 530

74 925

–

–

Change in estimate

1 403

1 403

–

–

Headline earnings

65 687

(12 918)

(20 245)

Gain on bargain purchase
Impairment, net of tax

(20 245)

Weighted average number shares in issue

828 182

274 929

Diluted weighted average number shares in issue

828 182

274 929

Headline loss per share (cents)

(1.56)

(7.36)

Diluted headline loss per share (cents)

(1.56)

(7.36)
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29. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
No capital commitments existed at 28 February 2018 (2017: Rnil).

30. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
There are no contingent liabilities as at 28 February 2018 (2017:Rnil).

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. This note presents information about the
Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s
management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout the financial statements. (Refer to note 29 for further details).

31.1 Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a counter-party to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations
and arises principally from the Group’s receivables arising from trade-related transactions
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced by the individual characteristics of each counter-party. In addition, receivable
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis. The credit risk currently mainly arises from trade-related financial assets. The Group
approves these counterparties according to its risk management policy to ensure that they are of good credit quality. The exposure to
credit risk arises from default of the counter-party, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments.
The Group considers credit risk on cash and cash equivalents and non-current assets to be minimal.

31.2 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s approach to
managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient funds to meet its liabilities when due, under both
normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.
In the ordinary course of business, the Group receives cash proceeds from its operations and is required to fund working capital and
capital expenditure requirements. The Group’s available cash balances are managed to ensure that surplus funds are invested to
maximise returns whilst ensuring that the capital is safeguarded to the maximum extent possible.
In line with this, the Group has trade financing facilities available to assist with cash flow and working capital requirements. This allows
the Group to draw down on contract revenue on contracts that have been executed, but prior to them being settled. These facilities are
with top financial institutions with strong credit ratings.
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of trade finance, intercompany loans, trade payables and trade receivables.

31.3 Market risk and interest rate risk
Market risk is the risk that market factors change, which results in negative impacts on the business. The Group is mainly exposed
to the risk that interest rates change, which in turn affects the receivable and payable amount on loans. This is limited, since both
receivable loans and payable loans are exposed to the same risks and will counteract each other. Further details are contained in
notes 6, 10 and 11.

31.4 Capital management
The Group’s capital consists of the share capital, share premium and retained earnings as presented in the statement of changes in equity.
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios
(e.g. return on capital) in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.
There are no externally imposed capital requirements.
There have been no changes to what the entity manages as capital, the strategy for capital maintenance or externally imposed capital
requirements from the previous year.
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
31.5 Currency risk
The Group does not consider currency risk to be material. The only currency risk the Group is exposed to is if a revenue deal is drawn
down against with the trade finance facility prior to the deal being settled. The Group mitigates this risk by taking out hedging positions
when the exposure is believed to be too much.

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The tables below detail the potential exposure of the financial instruments. The Group has sufficient policies in place to mitigate these risks.
2018
R’000

32.1

2017
R’000

Credit risk
Exposure to credit risk:

–

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum exposed to credit risk.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at reporting date was:
Other financial assets
Environmental rehabilitation obligation funds

82 844

–

5 796

3 158

Trade and other receivables

24 470

64

Cash and cash equivalents

34 885

2 560

147 995

5 782

Total maximum exposure to credit risk
Concentration of credit risk by geographic location:

The maximum exposure of financial assets to credit risk by geographical region at reporting date is as follows:
Domestic

147 995

5 782

Total maximum exposure to credit risk

147 995

5 782

For all of the above classes of financial asset, no collateral is held as security and there are no
credit enhancements in place.
Concentrations of credit risk by receivable category:
The maximum exposure of financial assets to credit risk by receivable type at reporting date is as follows:
Other financial assets
Environmental rehabilitation obligation funds

82 844

–

5 796

3 158

Trade and other receivables

24 470

64

Cash and cash equivalents

34 885

2 560

147 995

5 782

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

252 484

–

78 880

5 221

Total maximum exposure to credit risk

32.2 Liquidity risk
Financial instruments exposed to liquidity risk:

Balance of loans payable
IDC
Related party
Both loans are subject to a two year interest moratorium, with no payments due within the next 12 months.
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32.3 Interest rate risk
Profile
At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group and the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments were:
2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Variable rate instruments – carrying amounts
Financial assets:

82 844

–

Other financial assets

34 885

2 560

331 364

5 221

85 547

–

Cash and cash equivalents
Financial liabilities:
Borrowings
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate financial instruments
A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) profit or loss by the amounts
shown below. The sensitivity analysis was calculated by multiplying the year-end balances by the increase or decrease in the interest
rate. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.
Increase/
Decrease

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

+100

828

–

Financial assets:
Other financial assets
Other financial assets

-100

(828)

–

Cash and cash equivalents

+100

349

26

Cash and cash equivalents

-100

(349)

(26)

Financial liabilities:
Borrowings

+100

(3 314)

(52)

Borrowings

-100

3 314

526

Cash and cash equivalents

+100

(855)

–

Cash and cash equivalents

-100

855

–

32.4 Fair value disclosure
• The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instrument:
• Trade receivables/payables, and cash and cash equivalents
The carrying amounts approximate fair values due to the short maturity of these instruments (level 1 input).
• Investments and environmental rehabilitation obligation funds
The environmental trust fund is stated at fair value based on the nature of the fund’s investments (level 1 input).
• Borrowings
The fair value of borrowings approximates its carrying amounts as the impact of credit risk is included in the measurement of
carrying amounts. This has been calculated as the discounted value of future contractual cash flows. This has been discounted at
the effective interest rate implicit in the contractual terms. (level 2 input).
• Other financial assets
The fair value of borrowings approximates its carrying amounts as the impact of credit risk is included in the measurement of
carrying amounts. This has been calculated as the discounted value of future contractual cash flows. This has been discounted at
the effective interest rate implicit in the contractual terms. (level 2 input).
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
32.4 Fair value disclosure (continued)

Note

Fair value
through profit
or loss
R’000

7

5 796

Loans and
receivables
R’000

Other financial
liabilities
R’000

2018
Environmental rehabilitation obligation funds1

6

82 844

Cash and cash equivalents

Other financial assets

11

34 885

Borrowings

16

331 364

Trade payables

15

232 555

Cash and cash equivalents – current liability

11

2017
Environmental rehabilitation obligation funds1

1

7

3 158

Cash and cash equivalents

11

2 560

Borrowings

16

5 221

Trade payables

15

1 474

The environmental rehabilitation obligation funds is a level 1 fair value measurement, due to being a money market investment.

33. RELATED PARTIES
Refer to note 22 for disclosure of director emoluments.
Balances and transactions between the company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Group, have been eliminated on
consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. All other related part transactions are disclosed below.
Black Chrome Holdings (Pty) Ltd:
Black Chrome Holdings (Pty) Ltd is the legal owner of Umnotho weSizwe Resources (Pty) Ltd. As such, it is a related party to the Group.
Onicastar (Pty) Ltd:
Onicastar is one of the shareholders of Rooderand (Pty) Ltd. As such, it is a related party to the Group.
BBA Resources (Pty) Ltd:
BBA Resources (Pte) Ltd is a Singapore company with which the Group sells most of its ore. BBA Resources (Pte) Ltd is related to one of the
major shareholders of the Group.

33.1 Income statement transactions

Sales to BBA Resources (Pte) Ltd

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

322 810

–

33.2 Statement of financial position transactions
During the year, the Group entered into the following transactions with related parties that are not members of the Group:
2018
R’000

2017
R’000

Accounts receivable from BBA Resources (Pte) Ltd

13 178

–

Loan receivable from Black Chrome Holdings (Pty) Ltd

(50 119)

–

Loan Payable to Black Chrome Holdings (Pty) Ltd

78 879

–

Equity transaction with Onicastar

54 391

–
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34. NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT

34.1

2018
R’000

2017
R’000

(150 789)

(17 632)

Depreciation of tangible assets

26 837

85

Amortisation and depreciation

27 091

10 954

Investment income

(8 337)

(54)

Operating loss before working capital changes
Net loss before taxation
Adjusted for:

15 479

819

153 530

–

Gain on bargain purchase

(9 923)

–

Change in estimate

(3 820)

–

Foreign exchange movement

(6 502)

–

Finance costs
Impairment

Movement in rehabilitation trust funds

34.2

(19)

(26)

36 570

(5 586)

Working capital changes
25 197

732

Increase in inventory

(101 734)

–

Decrease in trade and other payables

127 013

856

50 476

1 586

Increase in trade and other receivables

35. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
There were no events that could have a material impact on the financial results of the Group after 28 February 2018, except for the following:
On 24 May 2018, Tranche 2 of the Black Chrome Share Swap Agreement, as disclosed in the circular to shareholders dated 30 May 2017,
was implemented after the remaining conditions precedent were met. The impact there of was an issue of 1,37 billion ordinary shares to
Grand Slam Enterprise (Pty) Ltd, in exchange for 51% ownership of Black Chrome Holdings (Pty) Ltd, the owner of 64% of Umnotho weSizwe
Resources (Pty) Ltd.

36. GOING CONCERN
The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This basis presumes that
funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and
commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.
The ability of the Company to continue as a going concern is dependent on a number of factors. The most significant of these is that the
directors continue to procure funding for the ongoing operations for the company.
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Shareholder analysis
at 28 February 2018
Shareholder spread

Number of
shareholders

%

Number of
shares

%

1 – 1 000 shares

190

22

73 273

0

1 001 – 10 000 shares

318

37

1 521 972

0

10 001 – 100 000 shares

256

30

9 499 901

0

100 001 – 1 000 000 shares

68

8

19 949 082

1

1 000 001 – 10 000 000 shares

21

2

81 774 656

3

10 000 001 shares and over
Total

Public/non-public shareholders
Directors’ holdings

6

1

2 429 607 799

96

859

100

2 542 426 683

100

Number of
shareholders

%

Number of
shares

%

1

0

7 930 743

0

Strategic holdings – more than 3%
1

0

2 267 500 000

89

Public shareholders

Shares held by Grand Slam Enterprise (Pty) Ltd

857

100

266 995 940

11

Total

859

100

2 542 426 683

100
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Notice of Annual General Meeting
CHROMETCO LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number 2002/026265/06)
Share code: CMO    ISIN: ZAE000070249
(“Chrometco” or “the Company”)
Notice is hereby given that the annual general
meeting of shareholders of Chrometco will
be held in the boardroom, at Sail Minerals
(Pty) Ltd, Unit 25 Sunninghill Office Park,
Sunninghill, Johannesburg on Tuesday
31 July 2018 at 10:00 (“the Annual General
Meeting”) to consider the business set out
herein and if deemed fit, to pass, with or
without modification, the ordinary and special
resolutions set out below.
Important dates:
Record date to receive the notice of Annual
General Meeting is Friday, 22 June 2018. Last
date to trade to be eligible to vote is Tuesday,
17 July 2018.
Record date to be eligible to vote is Friday,
20 July 2018.
Last date for lodging forms of proxy is Friday,
27 July 2018.

ORDINARY BUSINESS
Presentation of annual financial
statements
The audited annual financial statements are
available on the Company’s website, at
www.chrometco.co.za, or may be obtained in
person, at no charge, at the registered offices
of the Company at, Unit 25 Sunninghill Office
Park, Sunninghill, Johannesburg during office
hours.

Ordinary resolution number 1:
Appointment of auditors
Resolved that Moore Stephens Cape Town
be and are hereby re-appointed as the
independent auditors of the Company (the
designated auditor being Mrs L Stander)
for the ensuing year, such auditors having
been nominated by the Company’s Audit
Committee.
The reason for ordinary resolution number
1 is that the Company, being a public listed
company, must have its financial results
audited and such auditor must be appointed
or re-appointed each year at the Annual
General Meeting of the Company as required
by the South African Companies Act, 71 of
2008, as amended (“the Companies Act”).

The minimum percentage of voting rights that
is required for this resolution to be adopted is
50% of the voting rights plus one vote to be
cast in favour of the resolution.

the Non-executive Directors rotate at every
Annual General Meeting of the Company
and, being eligible, may offer themselves for
re‑election as Directors.

Ordinary resolution number 2:
Ratification and re-election of
Directors

A brief curriculum vitae of each Director is
available on page 3 of this integrated annual
report.

In terms of the Company’s memorandum of
incorporation (“MOI”), the following directors’
appointments need to be ratified at the
Annual General Meeting:

•
•
•

Mr B Sibiya,
Mr L Jordaan; and
Mrs N Thomas.

In terms of the Company’s memorandum of
incorporation (“MOI”), the following directors
retire by rotation at the Annual General
Meeting, but, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election:

•
•
•

Mr B Sibiya,
Mr L Jordaan; and
Mrs N Thomas.

Accordingly, shareholders are requested
to consider and, if deemed fit, to ratify and
re‑elect the Directors named above by way of
passing the separate ordinary resolutions set
out below:

Ordinary resolution number 2(a) –
Ratification and re‑election of B Sibiya
as Director.
Resolved that B Sibiya be and is hereby
ratified and re‑elected as a director of the
Company.

Ordinary resolution number 2(b) –
Ratification and re‑election of
L Jordaan as Director.
Resolved that L Jordaan be and is hereby
ratified and re‑elected as a Director of the
Company.

Ordinary resolution number 2(c) –
Ratification and re‑election of
N Thomas as Director.
Resolved that N Thomas be and is hereby
ratified and re‑elected as a Director of the
Company.
The reason for ordinary resolutions numbers
2(a) and 2(b) is that the MOI of the Company,
the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited
(“JSE”) and, to the extent applicable, the
Companies Act, require that a component of

Ordinary resolution number 3:
Ratification and re-appointment
of Audit Committee members
To ratify and re-appoint individually the
following independent Non-executive
Directors to the Audit Committee:

Ordinary resolution number 3(a) –
Ratification and re‑appointment of
L Jordaan as a member of the Audit
Committee.
Ordinary resolution number 3(b) –
Ratification and re‑appointment of
L Jordaan as Chairperson of the Audit
Committee.
Ordinary resolution number 3(c) –
Ratification and re‑appointment of
B Sibiya as a member of the Audit
Committee.
Ordinary resolution number 3(d) –
Re‑appointment of N Thomas as a
member of the Audit Committee.
A brief curriculum vitae of each Director is
available on page 3 of this integrated annual
report.
The reason for ordinary resolutions numbers
3(a) to 3(d) (inclusive) is that the Company,
being a public listed company, must appoint
an Audit Committee and the Companies Act
requires that the members of such Audit
Committee be appointed, or re-appointed,
as the case may be, at each Annual General
Meeting of the Company.
The minimum percentage of voting rights that
is required for this resolution to be adopted is
50% of the voting rights plus one vote to be
cast in favour of the resolution.

Ordinary resolution number 4:
General authority to issue
shares for cash
Resolved that, subject to the provisions of the
Company’s MOI, the Listing Requirements
of the JSE (“the JSE Listings Requirements”)
and the Companies Act, the mandate given
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to the Directors of the Company in terms of
a general authority to issue shares for cash,
as and when suitable opportunities arise, be
renewed subject to the following conditions:

average traded price of the shares over
the 30 (thirty) business days prior to the
date that the price of the issue is agreed
in writing between the issuer and the
party subscribing for the shares and the
effect of the issue on net asset value,
net tangible asset value, earnings and
headline earnings per share), or any other
announcements that may be required
in such regard in terms of the Listings
Requirements of the JSE which may be
applicable from time to time. For listed
entities wishing to issue shares for cash
(other than issues by way of rights offers,
in consideration for acquisitions and/or to
share incentive schemes (which schemes
have been duly approved by the JSE and
by the shareholders of the company)), it is
necessary for the Board of the Company
to obtain the prior authority of the
shareholders in accordance with the JSE
Listings Requirements and the MOI of
the Company. Accordingly, the reason for
ordinary resolution number 4 is to obtain
a general authority from shareholders to
issue shares for cash in compliance with
the JSE Listings Requirements and the
MOI of the Company. In terms of the JSE
Listings Requirements, a 75% (seventyfive percent) majority of the votes cast
by shareholders present or represented
by proxy at the Annual General Meeting,
must be cast in favour of ordinary
resolution number 4 for it to be approved.

1. The general authority be valid until the
Company’s next Annual General Meeting,
provided that it shall not extend beyond
15 months from the date of the passing of
this ordinary resolution (whichever period
is shorter).
2. The allotment and issue of the shares
must be made to public shareholders, as
defined in the JSE Listings Requirements,
and not to related parties.
3. The shares which are the subject of the
issue for cash must be of a class already
in issue, or where this is not the case,
must be limited to such shares or rights
that are convertible into a class already
in issue.
4. The number of shares issued for cash,
in aggregate in any one financial year,
shall not exceed 50% (fifty percent) of the
Company’s issued ordinary share capital
as at the date of this notice of Annual
General Meeting, provided that any
ordinary shares to be issued pursuant to a
rights issue (announced, irrevocable and
fully underwritten) or an acquisition issue
shall not diminish the number of ordinary
shares that comprise the 50% of ordinary
shares that may be issued in terms of this
ordinary resolution. As at the date of this
notice of Annual General Meeting, 50%
of the Company’s issued ordinary share
capital (net of treasury shares) amounts to
2 542 428 683 ordinary shares.
5. The maximum discount at which ordinary
shares may be issued is 10% (ten
percent) of the weighted average traded
price of those shares on the JSE over
the 30 (thirty) business days prior to the
date that the price of the issue is agreed
between the Company and the party
subscribing for the securities or any other
price agreed to by the JSE. The JSE will
be consulted for a ruling if the shares
have not traded in such 30-day period.
6. After the Company has issued shares for
cash which represent, on a cumulative
basis within a financial year, 5% (five
percent) or more of the number of
shares in issue prior to that issue, the
Company shall publish an announcement
containing full details of the issue
(including the number of shares issued,
the average discount to the weighted
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Ordinary resolution number 5:
Remuneration philosophy
To approve, by way of a non-binding advisory
vote, the remuneration philosophy of the
Company, as set out on pages 15 and 16 of
this annual report. The minimum percentage
of voting rights that is required for this
resolution to be adopted is 50% of the voting
rights plus one vote to be cast in favour the
resolution.

Ordinary resolution number 6:
Remuneration philosophy
Voting at upcoming AGM
Both Chrometco’s remuneration policy and
its implementation report will be presented
to shareholders for separate non-binding
advisory votes thereon at Chrometco’s
upcoming AGM to be held on 31 July 2018.
In the event that 25% or more of shareholders
vote against either the remuneration policy
or the implementation report at the meeting,
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Chrometco will engage with shareholders
through dialogue, requesting written
submissions or otherwise, in order to address
shareholder concerns, always with due regard
to meeting Chrometco’s stated business
objectives while being fair and responsible
toward both the employee and shareholders.

Ordinary resolution number 7:
Authority to sign all documents
required
Resolved that, subject to the passing of
ordinary resolutions numbers 1 to 5 and
special resolutions numbers 1 to 4, any
director of the Company or the Company
Secretary be and is hereby authorised to sign
all documents and perform all acts which may
be required to give effect to such ordinary
resolutions numbers 1 to 5 and special
resolutions numbers 1 to 4 passed at the
Annual General Meeting; hereby ratifying and
confirming all such things already done and
documentation already signed. In order for
this ordinary resolution to be adopted, it must
be supported by more than 50% of the votes
cast by shareholders present or represented
by proxy at this meeting.

SPECIAL BUSINESS
Special resolution number 1:
General authority to repurchase
shares
Resolved, in terms of the MOI of the
Company (or one of its subsidiaries), the
JSE Listings Requirements and sections
46 and 48 of the Companies Act, that the
Directors of the Company be authorised, by
way of a general authority, until this authority
lapses at the next Annual General Meeting
of the Company, provided that it shall not
extend beyond 15 (fifteen) months from the
date of passing of this special resolution
(whichever period is the shorter), to acquire
the Company’s own shares, upon such terms
and conditions and in such amounts as the
Directors may from time to time decide,
subject to the following terms and conditions:
1. Any repurchase of securities must be
effected through the order book operated
by the JSE trading system and done
without any prior understanding or
arrangement between the Company and
the counterparty.
2. The repurchase is authorised by the
Company’s MOI.

3. At any point in time, the Company may
only appoint one agent to effect any
repurchases on its behalf.
4. The number of shares which may be
repurchased pursuant to this authority
in any financial year may not, in the
aggregate, exceed 20% (twenty percent)
of the Company’s issued share capital.
5. Repurchases of shares may not be made
at a price greater than 10% (ten percent)
above the weighted average of the market
value of the securities for the 5 (five)
business days immediately preceding
the date on which the transaction was
effected.
6. Repurchases may not be undertaken by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries
during a prohibited period, as defined in
the JSE Listings Requirements, unless a
repurchase programme is in place where
the dates and quantities of securities
to be repurchased during the relevant
period are fixed, which programme has
been submitted to the JSE in writing and
executed by an independent third party.
7. After the Company has acquired shares
which constitute, on a cumulative basis,
3% (three percent) of the initial number
of shares in issue (at the time that the
authority from shareholders for the
repurchase is granted) of the relevant
class of securities and for each 3% (three
percent) in aggregate of the initial number
of that class acquired thereafter, the
Company shall publish an announcement
containing full details of such repurchase.
8. The Board of Directors have passed a
resolution authorising the repurchase
and that the Company has passed the
solvency and liquidity test contained in
section 4 of the Companies Act, and
that since the test was done, there have
been no material changes to the financial
position of the Company. The reason for
and effect of special resolution number 1
is to extend the general authority given
to the Directors of the Company or any
subsidiary of the Company, in terms
of the Companies Act and the JSE
Listings Requirements, for the acquisition
by the Company or its subsidiaries
of the Company’s securities which
authority shall be used at the Directors’
discretion during the course of the period
authorised.

Proposed fees for
the year ended
28 February 2018
(per meeting)
Board Chairman

R41 667/month

Audit Committee
Chairman

R1 000/hour

Social and Ethics
Committee
Chairman

R25 000/month

In accordance with the JSE Listings
Requirements, the Directors record that:
1. They have no specific intention to
repurchase shares, but would utilise the
renewed general authority to repurchase
securities to serve shareholders’ interests,
as and when suitable opportunities
present themselves, which opportunities
may require expeditious and immediate
action.
2. The Directors, after considering the effect
of the maximum number of securities
which may be repurchased pursuant to
the general authority, are of the opinion
that, for a period of 12 (twelve) months
after the date of this notice of Annual
General Meeting:
a. the Company and the Group will be
able to pay their debts in the ordinary
course of business;
b. the consolidated assets of the
Company and of the Group will be
in excess of the liabilities of the
Company and the Group; the assets
and liabilities being recognised
and measured in accordance with
the accounting policies used in the
latest audited Group annual financial
statements;
c. the share capital and reserves of
the Company and of the Group
are adequate for ordinary business
purposes; and
d. the working capital of the Company
and the Group will be adequate for
ordinary business purposes.
3. The minimum percentage of voting rights
that is required for this resolution to be
adopted is 75% to be cast in favour of the
resolution.

Special resolution number 2:
Approval of Directors’
remuneration
Resolved that, in terms of section 66(9) of the
Companies Act, the Company be authorised
to pay a maximum amount of remuneration to
its Non-executive Directors for their services
as Directors as listed below:
The reason and effect for special resolution
number 2 is to obtain shareholder
approval, by way of a special resolution, for
Non‑executive Directors’ remuneration for
their services as directors in compliance with
the Companies Act.
It is noted that the remuneration payable to
Directors in their capacities as such does not
include salaries and other benefits payable to
Directors in other capacities.
The minimum percentage of voting rights that
is required for this resolution to be adopted is
75% (seventy-five percent) of the voting rights
to be cast in favour of the resolution.

Special resolution number 3:
Inter-company financial
assistance
Resolved, in terms of section 45(3)(a)(ii) of
the Companies Act, as a general approval,
that the Board of the Company be and
is hereby authorised to approve that the
Company provides any direct or indirect
financial assistance (“financial assistance”
will herein have the meaning attributed to it
in section 45(1) of the Companies Act) that
the Board of the Company may deem fit to
any company or corporation that is related
or inter-related (“related” or “inter-related”
will herein have the meaning attributed to
it in section 2 of the Companies Act) to
the Company, on the terms and conditions
and for amounts that the board of the
Company may determine, provided that the
aforementioned approval shall be valid until
the date of the next Annual General Meeting
of the Company. The reason for and effect
of special resolution number 3 is to grant
the Directors of the Company the authority,
until the next Annual General Meeting of
the Company, to provide direct or indirect
financial assistance to any company or
corporation which is related or inter-related to
the Company. This means that the Company
is, inter alia, authorised to grant loans to its
subsidiaries and to guarantee the debt of its
subsidiaries.
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The minimum percentage of voting rights that
is required for this resolution to be adopted is
75% (seventy-five percent) of the voting rights
to be cast in favour of the resolution.

Notifications
Shareholders are hereby notified in terms of
section 45(5) of the Companies Act that the
Board has passed the same resolution to take
effect on the passing of special resolution
number 3 by shareholders and that the Board
is satisfied that the Company meets the
solvency and liquidity test.

Special resolution number 4:
Financial assistance for the
subscription or purchase of
shares in the company or in a
related or inter-related company
Resolved, in terms of Section 44(3)(a)(ii) of
the Companies Act, as a general approval,
that the Board of the Company be and
is hereby authorised to approve that the
Company provides any direct or indirect
financial assistance (“financial assistance”
will herein have the meaning attributed to it
in sections 44(1) and 44(2) of the Companies
Act) that the Board of the Company may
deem fit to any company or corporation that
is related or inter-related to the Company
(“related” or “inter-related” will herein have
the meaning attributed to it in section 2
of the Companies Act), on the terms and
conditions and for amounts that the Board of
the Company may determine for the purpose
of, or in connection with the subscription of
any option, or any shares or other securities,
issued or to be issued by the Company
or a related or inter-related company or
corporation, or for the purchase of any shares
or securities of the Company or a related
or inter-related company or corporation,
provided that the aforementioned approval
shall be valid until the date of the next Annual
General Meeting of the Company.
The reason for and effect of special resolution
number 4 is to grant the Directors the
authority, until the next Annual General
Meeting of the Company, to provide financial
assistance to any company or corporation
which is related or inter-related to the
Company for the purpose of, or in connection
with, the subscription or purchase of options,
shares or other securities in the Company
or any related or inter-related company or
corporation. This means that the Company
is authorised, inter alia, to grant loans to its
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subsidiaries and to guarantee and furnish
security for the debt of its subsidiaries where
any such financial assistance is directly or
indirectly related to a party subscribing for
options, shares or securities in the Company
or its subsidiaries. The minimum percentage
of voting rights that is required for this
resolution to be adopted is 75% (seventyfive percent) of the voting rights to be cast in
favour of the resolution.
The Company has no immediate plans to
use this authority and is simply obtaining
same in the interests of prudence and good
corporate governance should the unforeseen
need arise to use the authority. In terms of
and pursuant to the provisions of sections 44
and 45 of the Companies Act, the Directors
of the Company confirm that the Board will
satisfy itself, after considering all reasonably
foreseeable financial circumstances of the
Company, that immediately after providing
any financial assistance as contemplated in
special resolutions numbers 3 and 4 above:

•
•
•
•
•

the assets of the Company (fairly valued)
will equal or exceed the liabilities of
the Company (fairly valued) (taking into
consideration the reasonably foreseeable
contingent assets and liabilities of the
Company);
the Company will be able to pay its debts
as they become due in the ordinary
course of business for a period of 12
months;
the terms under which any financial
assistance is proposed to be provided,
will be fair and reasonable to the
Company; and
all relevant conditions and restrictions
(if any) relating to the granting of financial
assistance by the Company as contained
in the Company’s MOI have been met.

DISCLOSURES REQUIRED
IN TERMS OF PARAGRAPH
11.26 OF THE JSE LISTINGS
REQUIREMENTS
The following additional information, some
of which may appear elsewhere in this
annual report, is provided in terms of the JSE
Listings Requirements for purposes of special
resolution number 1:
Major shareholders – page 58.
Company’s share capital – page 44.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
STATEMENT
The Directors, whose names are given on
page 3 of this annual report, collectively and
individually, accept full responsibility for the
accuracy of the information pertaining to
special resolution number 1 and certify that,
to the best of their knowledge and belief,
there are no facts that have been omitted
which would make any statement false or
misleading and that all reasonable enquiries
to ascertain such facts have been made and
that the aforementioned special resolution
contains all the information required by
the JSE.

MATERIAL CHANGE
Other than the facts and developments
reported on in this annual report, there have
been no material changes in the financial
or trading position of the Company or its
subsidiaries since the Company’s financial
year-end and the signature date of this annual
report.

VOTING AND PROXIES
A shareholder of the Company entitled to
attend, speak and vote at the Annual General
Meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy or
proxies to attend, speak and vote in his stead.
The proxy need not be a shareholder of the
Company. A form of proxy is attached for the
convenience of any certificated shareholder
and own name registered dematerialised
shareholder who cannot attend the Annual
General Meeting, but who wishes to be
represented thereat.
Additional forms of proxy may also be
obtained on request from the Company’s
registered offices, at Unit 25 Sunninghill Office
Park, Sunninghill, Johannesburg, Gauteng.
The completed forms of proxy must be
deposited at, posted or faxed to the Transfer
Secretaries at the address set out below, to
be received by no later than 10:00 on Friday,
27 July 2018. Shareholders may hand forms
of proxy to the Chairman of the Annual
General Meeting at any time before the
appointed proxy exercises any shareholder
rights at the Annual General Meeting.
Any shareholder who completes and
lodges a form of proxy will nevertheless be
entitled to attend and vote in person at the
Annual General Meeting should the member
subsequently decide to do so.

On a show of hands, every shareholder of
the Company present in person or by proxy
shall have 1 (one) vote only, irrespective of
the number of shares he holds or represents,
provided that a proxy shall, irrespective of the
number of shareholders he represents have
only 1 (one) vote. On a poll, every shareholder
of the Company who is present in person or
represented by proxy, shall have one vote
for every share held in the Company by such
shareholder.
Shareholders who have dematerialised their
ordinary shares through a CSDP or broker,
other than own name registered dematerialised
shareholders, and who wish to attend the
Annual General Meeting must request their
CSDP or broker to issue them with a Letter of
Representation. Alternatively, dematerialised
shareholders, other than own name registered
dematerialised shareholders, who wish to
be represented, must provide their CSDP or
broker with their voting instructions in terms
of the custody agreement between them and
their CSDP or broker in the manner and by
time-frame stipulated.
Any shareholder of the Company may
authorise any person to act as its
representative at the Annual General Meeting.
Please also note that section 63(1) of the
Companies Act requires that persons wishing
to participate in the Annual General Meeting
(including the aforementioned representative)
must provide satisfactory identification before
they may so participate.
Voting will be performed by way of a poll so
that each shareholder present or represented
by way of proxy will be entitled to vote the
number of shares held or represented by him.
Equity securities held by a share trust or
scheme will not have their votes at the Annual
General Meeting taken into account for the
purposes of resolutions proposed in terms of
the JSE Listings Requirements.
Unlisted securities (if applicable) and shares
held as treasury shares may not vote.
The last day to trade in order to be eligible
to vote at the Annual General Meeting is
Tuesday, 17 July 2018.
The record date in order to vote at the Annual
General Meeting is Friday, 20 July 2018.
By order of the board

V Marques
Company Secretary
Johannesburg
29 June 2018
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✁

Form of Proxy
CHROMETCO LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number 2002/026265/06)
Share code: CMO    ISIN: ZAE000070249
(“Chrometco” or “the company”)
For use by the holders of the Company’s certificated ordinary shares (“certificated shareholder”) and/or dematerialised ordinary shareholders
whose shares are held through a CSDP or broker and who have selected own name registration (“own name dematerialised shareholders”) at the
Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at the offices of Computershare Investor Services (Pty) Ltd, Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann
Avenue, Rosebank, 2196 at 10:00 on Tuesday, 31 July 2018 or at any adjournment thereof.
Not for the use by holders of the Company’s dematerialised ordinary shares who are not own name dematerialised shareholders. Such
shareholders must contact their CSDP or broker timeously if they wish to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting and request that they be
issued with the necessary Letter of Representation to do so, or provide the CSDP or broker timeously with their voting instructions should they not
wish to attend the Annual General Meeting in order for the CSDP or broker to vote thereat in accordance with their instructions.
I/We 

(please print full names)

of 

(address)

being the holder(s) of

NUMBER

ordinary shares in the Company, hereby appoint:  

1. 

or failing him/her,

2. 

or failing him/her,

3. the chairman of the Annual General Meeting,
as my/our proxy to attend, speak and vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held for the
purpose of considering and, if deemed fit, passing the ordinary and special resolutions to be proposed thereat and at each adjournment
thereof, and to vote for and/or against and/or abstain from voting in respect of the ordinary shares in the issued share capital of the Company
registered in my/our name/s in accordance with the following instructions:
Please indicate with an “X” the appropriate space below how you wish your votes to be cast unless otherwise instructed my/our proxy may
vote as he/she thinks fit.
IN FAVOUR

AGAINST

ABSTAIN

ORDINARY BUSINESS
1.

To re-appoint Moore Stephens Cape Town Incorporated as the independent auditors of the
Company (the designated auditor being Mrs L Stander).

2.

(a) To ratify and re-elect Mr B Sibiya as a director
(b) To ratify and re-elect Mr L Jordaan as a director
(c) To ratify and re-elect Mrs N Thomas as a director

3.

(a) To ratify and re-appoint Mr L Jordaan as a member of the Audit Committee
(b) To ratify and re-appoint Mr L Jordaan as chairman of the Audit Committee
(c) To ratify and re-appoint Mr B Sibiya as a member of the Audit Committee
(d) To ratify and re-appoint Mrs N Thomas as a member of the Audit Committee

4.

General authority to issue shares for cash

5.

Remuneration philosophy

6.

Non-binding approval of the Group remuneration policy and implementation report

7.

Authority to sign all documents required

SPECIAL BUSINESS
1.

General authority to repurchase shares

2.

Approval of directors’ remuneration

3.

Inter-company financial assistance

4.

Financial assistance for the subscription and/or purchase of shares in the Company or a related
or inter-related company

A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting may appoint one or more proxies to attend, speak and vote in his stead.
A proxy so appointed need not be a shareholder of the Company.
Signed at 									 on 

2018

Signature 
Assisted by 
Please read the notes on the reverse.

(if applicable)
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1. This form of proxy is to be completed only by those shareholders who are:
•

holding shares in certificated form; or

•

recorded in the sub-register in electronic form in their “own name”.

2. A shareholder may insert the name or names of two alternative proxies of his choice in the space provided, with or without deleting
“the chairman of the Annual General Meeting”. The person whose name appears first on this form of proxy and who is present at the
Annual General Meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow. Any such proxy, who need not be a
shareholder of the Company, is entitled to attend, speak and vote on behalf of such shareholder.
3. A proxy is entitled to one vote on a show of hands and, on a poll, one vote for each share held. A shareholder’s instructions to the proxy must
be indicated in the appropriate space.
4. If a shareholder does not indicate on this instrument that the proxy is to vote in favour of or against any resolution or to abstain from voting or
gives contradictory instructions, or should any further resolution/s or any amendment/s which may be properly put before the Annual General
Meeting be proposed, the proxy shall be entitled to vote as he thinks fit. Forms of proxy must be lodged at, posted to or faxed to the transfer
secretaries, Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited, Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank, 2196 (fax number:
+27 11 688 5238 or email: proxy@computershare.co.za) to reach the transfer secretaries by no later than 10:00 on Friday, 27 July 2018.
5. Documentary evidence establishing the authority of the person signing this form of proxy in a representative capacity must be attached to this
form of proxy unless previously recorded by the Company’s transfer secretaries or waived by the chairman of the Annual General Meeting.
6. The completion and lodging of this form of proxy does not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the Annual General Meeting and
speaking and voting in person to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms of this form of proxy.
7. Any alteration or correction made to this form of proxy must be initialled by the signatory/ies.
8. The chairman of the Annual General Meeting may accept or reject any form of proxy, which is completed and/or received, other than in
accordance with these notes, provided that the chairman shall not accept a proxy unless the chairman is satisfied as to the manner in which a
shareholder wishes to vote.
9. Shareholders who have dematerialised their shares must inform their CSDP or broker of their intention to attend the Annual General Meeting
and request their CSDP or broker to issue them with the necessary Letter of Representation to attend the Annual General Meeting or provide
their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions should they not wish to attend the Annual General Meeting in person but wish to be
represented thereat. This must be done in terms of the agreement entered into between the shareholder and his CSDP or broker.
10. Please note that, in terms of section 58(3) of the Companies Act:
•

the appointment of a proxy is revocable unless the proxy appointment expressly states otherwise. If the appointment of a proxy is
revocable, a shareholder may revoke the proxy appointment by cancelling it in writing, or making a later inconsistent appointment of a
proxy; and delivering a copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy, and to the Company. The revocation will take effect on the later
of: (i) the date stated in the revocation instrument or (ii) the date on which the revocation instrument was delivered to the proxy and the
Company.

•

a proxy may delegate his authority to act on your behalf to another person, subject to any restriction set out in this form of proxy.

•

a proxy must be delivered to the Company, or to the transfer secretaries of the Company, namely Computershare Investor Services
Proprietary Limited, before your proxy exercises any of your rights as a shareholder at the Annual General Meeting.

11. The last day to trade in order to be eligible to vote at the Annual General Meeting is Tuesday, 17 July 2018.
12. The record date in order to vote at the Annual General Meeting is Friday, 20 July 2018.
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Notes to Form of Proxy
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